
SCRUTINY : REGENERATION 
AND PUBLIC PROTECTION 

MEETING
2.30 pm TUESDAY, 24TH OCTOBER, 2017

COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded.  
This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used for 

training purposes by the Democratic Services Department.
The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and 

using the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to 
the possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 

(01685) 725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.
Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can 

be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA
1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations) 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

3. Homelessness in the County Borough - Update 
Report 
To consider the attached report 1 - 20

4. Working Life - Developing the Environment & 
Infrastructure for Business to Flourish 
To consider the attached report 21 - 38

5. Destination Management Plan Update 
To consider the attached report 39 - 70

6. Wales Audit Office Review – “Overview and 
Scrutiny Fit for the Future? Project” 
To consider the attached report 71 - 84

7. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow Up 
Actions 

8. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting 
To receive an update from the Chair

9. Work Programme 
To consider the attached report 85 - 106

10. Any Other Business as deemed urgent by the 
Chair 



COMPOSITION: Councillor:  J Amos (Chair)

Councillors: B Carter, C J Barry, S P Brown, M Colbran, 
E Galsworthy and G Lewis

Co-optee(s): H Jackson and M Ellis

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Homelessness in the County Borough - Update 
Report  

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT
1.1 This report highlights the homelessness picture here in Merthyr Tydfil and compares 

this with other local authorities and the national picture.

1.2 This report highlights some of the data anomalies and inconsistencies which make 
direct comparison of service performance and rates of homelessness quite 
challenging.

1.3 Service demands are increasing significantly due to a number of key factors 
including: a) the new legislation (2015) – which requires the local authority to help 
more people and provide more preventive services; b) welfare reform, driven by the 
Department of Work and Pensions is significantly reducing the money available to 
the most vulnerable in society (Merthyr is disproportionately affected) and c) 
increasing private rented sector rent levels.

1.4 This report outlines some of the key work and projects already undertaken and those 
proposed, aimed at addressing the increasing prevalence of homelessness locally 
and trying to mitigate some of impact from Welfare Reform.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 Content is noted by Committee Members and any queries raised with relevant 
officers.

Date Written 12th October 2017
Report Author Julian Pike
Service Area Housing & Community Safety
Committee Date 24th October 2017

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
3.1 The Committee has requested a report providing: 

An update on current issues and an overview of the current projects and 
programmes being delivered by the Cwm Taf Safety Partnership in respect of 
Homelessness: together with any other information that the department feels 
the committee should be aware of. 

3.2 Firstly, it is worth noting that homelessness is not addressed by the Cwm Taf 
Community Safety Partnership, whose remit does not extend to Housing matters. 
The Council’s Housing Solutions Team is responsible for preventing and alleviating 
homelessness and discharges the statutory duties placed upon the local housing 
authority by Part 2 of the Housing (Wales) Act 2014.

3.3. The Housing (Wales) Act 2014 introduced a raft of changes to housing policy and 
practice in Wales. This Act is the first piece of primary housing legislation passed by 
the Welsh Government. The homelessness element of the legislation was enacted in 
April 2015 and essentially re-formed homelessness law in Wales, including placing a 
stronger duty on local authorities to prevent homelessness and allowing them to use 
suitable accommodation in the private sector to discharge duties.

3.4 The new legislation effectively significantly widened the eligibility criteria for access 
to services, placed a much greater emphasis on prevention of homelessness and 
completely changed the administrative process of dealing with homeless 
applications. The net result of which is that:

 The Department now deals with a far higher volume of cases at any one time 
(typically 480 assessments per year)

 Housing Solution Officers are required to work with many clients for a much longer 
period (from 56 days before  client is potentially homeless) through the very 
bureaucratic administration process where we aim to prevent homeless, alleviate 
homeless or secure accommodation for those the Council holds a ‘duty to 
accommodate’ to.

 Cases are becoming much more complex year on year – often due to substance use 
issues, mental health and rent arrears or other debts.

4.0 WHERE WE WERE 

4.1 The first statistical release for 2015/16 (under the new legislation) had so many data 
quality issues that it was de-designated as National Statistics. This was primarily due 
to local authorities IT systems being unprepared for the new data capture methods 
required and the statutory guidance for recording outcomes was not published by 
Welsh Government until sometime after the legislation was enacted.

4.2 Therefore reviewing 2015/16 data is of no use.

4.3 It is also worth noting that pre 2015 statistics are incomparable with post 2015 
statistics, as the new legislation fundamentally changed who can access services 
and how the outcomes for clients are recorded.

Page 2



4.4 The second full year of data – 2016-17 is greatly improved in terms of data quality, 
however some significant issues remain, which Welsh Government are aware of and 
trying to address.

Figure 1: Summary of Homelessness Statistics for Merthyr Tydfil 2016-17

Total nr of homelessness assessments in the yr 476

Of which were SINGLE persons 331 or 70%

Cases found NOT HOMELESS 92

Prevention success rate 61%         (Doesn’t mean 39% unsuccessful)
Successful Relief rate 33%         (Doesn’t mean 67% unsuccessful)

S66 cases 103 outcomes
S73 cases 178 outcomes (128 of which SINGLE persons)
S75 cases 5 outcomes    (c. 1% of cases)

Cases resolved by Private Rented Accommodation 40            (c.50% with £ incentives)

Nr of cases which resulted in no positive outcome 115 cases  (24%)

Figure 2: Top reasons for homelessness in Merthyr Tydfil 2016-17

Friend or relative asks them to leave 29 cases    or    16%
Parents ask them to leave 27 cases
Prison Leaver 26 cases
Domestic Abuse 25 cases 
Non Violent relationship breakdown 23 cases
Loss of rented accommodation 22 cases    or   12%

Figure 3: Comparison of THREATENED WITH HOMELESSNESS with other LAs 
and All Wales Average

Area Households threatened with 
homelessness within 56 days – 
Rate per 10,000 households (s66)

WALES 69
Merthyr Tydfil 42
Blaenau Gwent 98
Caerphilly 81
RCT 55
Torfaen 110 (highest in Wales)

Page 3



4.5 Statistical points to note from Figure 3:

 102 Households presented to Merthyr Tydfil threatened with homelessness (within 
56 days

 Merthyr Tydfil has the third lowest rate of households threatened with homelessness 
(42) in Wales. The Welsh average is 69 households per 10,000. 

 Torfaen’s rate is almost 3 times that of Merthyr Tydfil – suggesting data recording 
inconsistencies.

 Merthyr Tydfil has a lower rate of households threatened with homelessness than all 
of our neighbouring local authorities.

4.6 Authors’ Commentary Points relating to Figure 3:

 Inconsistent data recording methods across Wales persist (although the data is now 
returned to being designated National Statistics).

 E.g. Of the NOT HOMELESS decisions – we could (in theory) have found 49 of 
these cases to be THREATENED with HOMELESSNESS – taking our total for the 
year to 152 (not 103). We could have closed 44 of these additional cases as 
SUCCESSFUL PREVENTION (like some LAs are doing) – which would have 
increased both the Rate of Threatened with Homelessness per 10,000 but also 
boosting our prevention rate from 61% to 70%.

 Rents and house prices (and therefore mortgages) are low in Merthyr compared to 
many parts of Wales, but this is not necessarily the case with most of our 
neighbouring authorities

Figure 4: Comparison of SUCCESSFUL PREVENTION with other LAs and All 
Wales Average

Area Households successfully prevented 

from Homelessness – Rate per 10,000 

households (s66)

WALES 43

Merthyr Tydfil 26

Blaenau Gwent 51

Caerphilly 59

RCT 35

Torfaen 55

4.7 Statistical Points relating to households successfully prevented from homelessness:

 Merthyr Tydfil has the second lowest rate of successful prevention in Wales
 Merthyr Tydfil (with 26) is therefore well below the Wales avg of 43 per 10,000

4.8 Author’s Commentary Points relating to Figure 4:

It is difficult to determine with any certainty the reasons for this but the following may 
be factors:

Page 4



 There remains considerable differences in the approaches taken by LAs in the 
recording of actions and hence data (outcomes). For example consider the case 
where a young person who presents as homeless, but following a phone call or visit 
to the parental home, it is established the young person can return home. Merthyr 
Tydfil are adhering to the guidance and recording this case as NOT HOMELESS. 
Other LAs are considering the phone call as preventative work – and hence will 
record the case as SUCCESSFULLY PREVENTED. This will inevitably increase the 
successfully prevented statistics for such LAs.  

 Merthyr Tydfil may need to shift more resource into prevention work, but this is 
difficult as current pressures from people already homeless are significant.

 Due to the relative availability of social housing locally – many cases are being 
accepted as currently homeless (s73), awarded reasonably high priority within the 
Common Housing Register, and hence are bidding for and receiving an offer of 
social housing. This activity is then recorded as SUCCESSFULLY RELIEVED as 
opposed to SUCCESSFUL PREVENTION. Work is underway within the Team to 
address this practice and try to keep more people in their current home (where safe 
and appropriate to do so).

 Limited accommodation options for single persons under 35 yrs (will become more 
acute in Apr 2019 when LHA rate applies to social housing).

Figure 5: Households assessed as homeless for whom the Council owes a duty to 
HELP secure accommodation - comparison with other LAs and All 
Wales Average (these are cases that are homeless when they approach 
our service)

Area Households assessed as homeless 
& owed a duty to HELP secure 
accommodation. Rate per 10,000 
households (s73)

WALES 82
Merthyr Tydfil 86
Blaenau Gwent 64
Caerphilly 69
RCT 49
Torfaen 80

4.9   Merthyr Tydfil has the highest rate of persons approaching the service AS 
HOMELESS, compared to our neighbours and the Wales average. This may be due 
to a number of factors including – 70% of our presentations are single persons – 
those with children typically seek help much sooner. There may be a perception 
issue which has not yet been overcome, whereby people present as homeless with 
the hope that the Council has a duty to provide them with social housing – this is 
rarely the case since 2015. The service is trying to disseminate information to partner 
agencies and other departments, highlighting the prevention element of our work and 
that early engagement usually leads to a far better outcome for clients.

Page 5



Figure 6: Households successfully relieved of Homelessness 

Area Households successfully relieved 
from Homelessness - Rate per 
10,000 households (s73)

WALES 34
Merthyr Tydfil 31
Blaenau Gwent 37
Caerphilly 32
RCT 24
Torfaen 22

4.10  Our relief of homelessness rate is just below the Welsh average. The huge challenge 
facing us locally is the very few number of single person units of accommodation 
available locally. Furthermore many of the single units of social housing present in 
the County Borough are restricted to persons 55 yrs and over or with low level 
support needs, very few general needs 1 bed units become available each year 
(estimate – less than 20).

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  - CURRENT PRESSURES

5.1 Pressures upon the service and hence staff continue to increase due to a number of 
factors beyond our control. The main factors include:

 Continuation of Welfare Reform – which is reducing the money available to 
many of the most vulnerable households in the County Borough

 Merthyr Tydfil has a high Welfare/Benefit dependency – so is 
disproportionately affected.

 Local Housing Allowance (LHA) – the rate at which housing benefit or 
Universal Credit is paid – is the second lowest in Wales here in Merthyr Tydfil. 
This means that most private rented accommodation is becoming 
unaffordable to persons on Welfare Benefits. 

 Those hardest hit by the LHA rate are single persons under 35 yrs old – who 
only receive £48 p/w for housing costs in the private rented sector. There are 
no bedsits available in the County Borough at this rate.

 From Figure 1 above you will note that 70% of homelessness presentations in 
Merthyr Tydfil are single persons.

 It is worth noting that the LHA rate will be applied to social housing tenancies 
from April 2019 – which will exacerbate affordability problems further, making 
social housing unaffordable to many.

 More clients than ever present to the department with complex issues 
including significant medical problems, mental health issues, substance and 
alcohol issues and significant rent arrears or debts. More clients than ever 
before are presenting with all of the above issues, making resolving their 
housing issue far more complex and challenging.

 Rough sleeping (acute homelessness) has increased locally and even more 
so nationally. During the 2016 rough sleeper count, we recorded 4 individuals 
sleeping rough. Cardiff routinely has 100 now – 3 times the figure from just a 
couple of years ago.

 There is a distinct lack of specialist accommodation locally which caters for 
persons with complex needs.Page 6



6.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW – OUR RESPONSE TO THE PRESSURES

6.1 Data capture and recording within the Housing Solutions Team has improved 
significantly since April 2016, this improved service intelligence is allowing us to 
continue to refine our service to meet emerging demands and to consider projects to 
address service gaps.

6.2 A new housing software system called CIVICA (formerly Arbitas) has been 
purchased using Welsh Government grant funding, to further improve the work of the 
department in respect of Homelessness and Allocations (administering the Common 
Housing Register – the only way to access social housing locally).

6.3 All staff have received significant training, and all have training plans.

6.4 Processes and procedures have been refined to ease the administrative burden of 
the new legislation

6.5 We have co-located  3 external support agency workers from Gofal (mental health), 
Adref (homelessness) and LLamau (family mediator), to improve our response to 
local issues.

6.6 The Council’s Supporting People Team have been co-located with the Housing 
Solutions Team since 13th October 2017, to further improve working links between 
the departments. The SP Team fund a range of external homelessness 
services/projects from their £2.1M budget. The intention is to better align this spend 
with the growing homelessness pressures.

Figure 7.0 Services commissioned by Supporting People Team (relevant to 
Homelessness)

Scheme Provider Budget

Garth Villas – Homeless Hostel (18+ yrs) Adref £197,956

Streetsmart – Fixed and Floating support for street 
homeless/in insecure accommodation Adref £33,624

Young Person’s Homeless Hostel (16-24 yrs) – Age temporary 
increased mid Sept 17 to 16-35 yrs as a trial Adref £178,015

TOTAL £409,595

Page 7



Scheme Provider Budget

Garth Newydd Court (SP Element only). (16-21 yrs)

Children’s services also fund this provision.

Llamau £14,523

Flooks – Move on Accommodation (16-22 yrs) Llamau £32,818

MV Homes Floating Support MVH £127,791

TOTAL £175,132

Figure 8.0        Bed & Breakfast Expenditure by the Housing Solutions Team

 
17/18 
(so far) 16/17 15/16 14/15 13/14 12/13 11/12

Total Payments 18,042.00 45,019.20 31,632.44 61,694.33 36,798.38 40,050.76 32,418.20 

6.7 B&B accommodation is typically used for short periods whilst officers assess 
someone’s homelessness application to determine whether they are actually 
homeless and what (if any) statutory duty we may owe to them.

6.8     The Housing Solutions Team also invests over £12,000 (from grant and core funding)     
in homelessness prevention activities such as paying off some arrears, paying bonds 
etc…

7.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW – OUR PROJECT RESPONSE 

7.1 It is becoming ever clearer that the Council housing department cannot address the 
increasing prevalence of homelessness in isolation. To this end we have developed 
a number of potential projects which will aim to address certain aspects of 
homelessness by mitigating some of the impact of the causal factors (such as 
welfare reform).

7.2 Shared Accommodation Project
This project aims to address the ridiculously low LHA rate for single persons Under 
35 yrs old – of £48 p/w (private sector currently, social housing from April 2019), by 
offering a potentially affordable solution, whereby 2 persons, whether strangers or 
friends, can come together to co-rent a 2 bed house. 

7.3 The project will also provide an additional accommodation option for young single 
homeless individuals, who cannot afford to live alone, even if they could find 1 bed 
accommodation.

7.4 A bespoke Supporting People funded service is being commissioned at present 
which will be responsible for:

 Promoting the project
 Matching clients to share – initially via a closed Facebook Group, then 

meeting to discuss compatibility 
Page 8



 Monitoring and improving our social media profile for the project
 Providing housing related support to help the clients move in, set up house 

rules, organise utilities, pay utilities and generally manage their tenancy.

7.5 It is envisaged that the scheme will operate in RSL stock only originally as a pilot.

7.6 Due to the complexities of Housing Benefit, Universal Credit and Council Tax 
legislation, the RSLs require the tenants to receive individual tenancies. This makes 
the landlord liable for the Council Tax as a consequence. The author has agreed to 
underwrite some of these costs for at least the first 18 months of the project, with the 
hope that a more sustainable solution can be found moving forward. This funding is 
likely to come from the department’s Homelessness Prevention Fund – hence why 
the scheme is limited to those on the margins and not available to all young persons.

7.7 The project is likely to become operational in Spring 2018.

7.8 Housing First

7.9 The Housing Solutions Team is experiencing an increase in the numbers of single 
people presenting as homeless. In 2016/17 83% of all presentations assessed as 
actually homeless were single people. This equates to 174/210 s.73 duties accepted. 
Of these presentations 46 have drug issues, 42 have alcohol issues, 88 have a 
mental health diagnosis. Of those s.73 duties accepted 61 are repeat presenters 
which equates to 35% of all s.73 duties accepted. When analysing these repeat 
presentations 18 have mental health and drug issues, 19 have mental health and 
alcohol issues. Currently there are a core group of 25 individuals who repeatedly 
present as homeless with substance and/or mental health issues. 

Figure 9.0 These individuals tend to follow the following cycle:

Page 9



7.10 For these 25 individuals it is clear that the traditional linear/staircase approach seen 
below to housing is not working. 

Figure 10 – Traditional System Approach

7.11 An alternative approach is Housing First which is  a recovery – oriented approach to 
ending homelessness. It centres on quickly moving an individual experiencing 
homelessness into independent, permanent  housing Once this is achieved 
additional support and services are then provided. The concept of Housing First is 
applied to those individuals who are rough sleeping or very marginally housed. They 
should also have chronic and complex support needs. 

7.12 The model was developed by Pathways to Housing in New York. The scheme is 
based on housing being a basic human right and once the chaos of homelessness is 
dealt with, clinical and social stabilisation will occur at a quicker rate. This 
stabilisation will also endure for a longer time frame. The original scheme also put an 
emphasis on an individual’s choice with clients encouraged to define their own needs 
and goals. Housing provided by the scheme is permanent though the tenure and 
type of housing will vary. 

7.13 The model is underpinned by eight core principles:

 Housing is a human right
 Choice and Control for Service Users
 Separation of housing and treatment
 Recovery orientation
 Harm reduction
 Active engagement without coercion
 Person centred planning
 Flexible Support for as Long as is required

Page 10

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwj-s-WmyZfVAhVJtRQKHZpKBB8QjRwIBw&url=https://www.slideshare.net/naehomelessness/benjamin-henwood&psig=AFQjCNFcq2YTx4GYUtaIqHeaqlln79ZbbQ&ust=1500630206976754


There are two principle requirements of clients – 30% of client income must fund 
housing and Client must agree to weekly visit by support team.

7.14 The financial case for Housing First appears very strong, however the overwhelming 
cost savings are realised by the NHS (usually A&E) and South Wales Police – who 
frequently arrest and charge the rough sleepers for often trivial offences of shoplifting 
etc… which fund their respective addiction.

Figure 11.0 – The Economic Case for Housing First

7.15 This project remains at concept stage only, however we have secured a small amout 
of capital funding from Welsh Government to progress the idea in this financial year. 
The Corporate Management Team (CMT) of the Council are supporting in principle 
to the idea, the next stage will be to secure the commitment of the two biggest 
partners in this venture – the NHS and SWP.

7.16 Development of a Supported Accommodation Gateway and Temporary 
Accommodation Officer

Page 11



Figure 12.0 – The Role of the Temporary Accommodation Officer

7.17 The Temporary Accommodation Officer (TA Officer) will be a new role within the 
Housing Solutions Team (reconfiguration of a current staff member’s duties, not a 
new member of staff). The key purpose of this role is to arrange and oversee the 
entry and move-on from the 3 B&Bs, 2 Hostels, 3 Merthyr Valleys Homes Temporary 
Accommodation Flats schemes and Private Sector Leasing units.

7.18 The purpose of which is to reduce use of B&B which has significant risk associated  
with it, to ensure all persons owed a statutory duty (homelessness  or any other 
(looked after), are prioritised for hostels ahead of all clients – allowing full 
assessments to be  undertaken including duties owed, next steps, client wishes, 
affordability, support plans etc…

7.19 The TA officer will be co-ordinator for the Supported Accommodation Gateway – 
arranging meetings, accepting referrals, maintaining a database of clients, ‘waiting 
list’, capturing demand data and translating this into service intelligence – identifying 
the type of services/accommodation not currently provided locally, for which there is 
evidential need. This will in turn influence future commissioning decisions.

7.20 This approach requires reconfiguration of the 2 ‘homeless hostels’ as they currently 
permit direct access, which means that people who are not homeless (as defined in 
statue) can enter the premises and receive a licence to remain. The knock on effect 
is that when the Council has a statutory duty to provide someone with temporary 
accommodation, there may not be availability, forcing us to use Bed & Breakfast 
establishments. Significant work and engagement has been done to remove direct 
access from the hostels – which is likely to be enacted in the coming months.

Page 12



Figure 13.0 – Supported Accommodation Gateway Diagram

7.21 The realignment of supported accommodation corporately seeks to ensure that 
those clients which require supported accommodation most, have appropriate 
access to it. It also makes more efficient use of the limited assets and services at our 
disposal.

7.22 This multi-agency approach will prove far more beneficial for clients as all of their 
care, housing and support needs can be considered collectively, ensuring that the 
clients pathway to sustainable and affordable accommodation is as clear to the 
individual as it is to those services and agencies supporting them.

Page 13



Figure 14.0 Relevant Parties forming the SAG

7.23     Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s first Homelessness Event ( Nov 2017)

7.24 An event has been arranged for 14th November 2017 (which scrutiny members were 
invited to), to raise the profile of the issue locally, to outline the current pressures on 
the local authority and other services, to highlight some of the good work being 
undertaken to address the emerging issues and to garner support from volunteers 
and the third sector to all pull together in our collective effort to make a bigger impact 
and address the many causes of homelessness and acute rough sleeping.

7.25 Cold Weather Plan & Winter Night Shelter

7.26 The Council is legally required to have a Cold Weather Plan, to outline our response 
to severe weather events, where rough sleepers may be significantly harmed or die. 
Our draft plan essentially sets out our response – which entails working with 
colleagues in the third sector (which are commissioned by the Council) to actively 
seek out rough sleepers when temperatures drop below zero degrees celcius to try 
to engage them with services (statutory and voluntary). Fortunately within Merthyr 
Tydfil there is a very strong and vibrant volunteer movement (through churches and 
non religious bodies), where rough sleepers can access hot food and drinks, clean 
clothes and other essentials, throughout the week.

7.27 It is a priority of the Housing Solutions Team to try to bring these disparate groups, 
which do great work, together to maximise impact and reduce duplication of effort Page 14



and resource. If all parties with an interest in homelessness, worked together our 
collective impact would be far greater than continuing to work in isolation.

7.28 An integral part of our Cold Weather Plan is the winter night shelter. Staffed and run 
by volunteers for rough sleepers during the coldest months of the year (typically Dec 
– Feb), the shelter provides a warm and safe place to sleep each night and provides 
a hot evening meal and breakfast each day.

7.29 The Shelter usually operates from 6pm until 8am and can accommodate 10 persons 
per night. The Housing Solutions Team are tasked with finding a suitable premises 
each year for the night shelter (which can be difficult), officers then aim to ensure 
that volunteers and ‘resident’s’ are safeguarded as far as possible, by conducting 
background checks on prospective residents for the shelter. All clients wishing to 
access the shelter must first report to the Civic Centre to provide personal details, 
which allow staff to risk assess the client, which inevitably informs the decision 
regarding access to the Shelter.

7.30 Annual Rough Sleeper Count
Welsh Government require all local authorities to conduct an annual 2 week survey 
with all local agencies who engage with rough sleepers, to establish the prevalence 
of the issue locally.

7.31 In addition to this 2 week survey, we are also required to arrange a snap shot 
physical survey of all known locations of rough sleepers on a particular night in 
November. This is a national snapshot survey. In November 2016 – we found and 
engaged with 4 rough sleepers in Merthyr Tydfil. 

7.32 November 2016 was the first time ever that Housing Solutions Team staff undertook
the night count which proved to be a far more robust and cost effective method of 
completing this work. Arrangements are in place to repeat this in 2017.

7.33 Private Sector Leasing Scheme

7.34 The Housing Solutions Team commissioned Calon Lettings in 2016 to facilitate and 
administer our PSL scheme. This essentially takes over the property management of 
private sector rented properties from landlords, for a small fee. The properties are 
then at the disposal of the Housing Solutions Team to accommodate those 
households to whom we owe a statutory duty to accommodate on a temporary basis. 
This provision is used as a more alternative solution to Bed & Breakfast 
accommodation – especially for families with children.

7.35 We currently have 6 units of accommodation at our disposal, and aim to enlist a 
further 6 properties in the next few months. The PSL properties are a key ‘move on’ 
option from either more expensive and formal temporary accommodation settings – 
such as the hostels, or from supported accommodation, where the person is ready to 
become more independent. It is therefore an integral element of the housing pathway 
for clients.

Page 15



8.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

8.1 The large number of projects at various stages of development and implementation 
contained with section 7.0 of this report will provide the main focus of our work for 
the next 12 to 18 months.

8.2 However, one very important enabler of all of this work is sufficient resource – both 
capital and revenue. In the draft budget announcement from Welsh Government in 
October 2017, we are advised that previously ring fenced grant for homelessness 
(called Transition Grant – which we’ve received for the last 2 years) is now being 
increased but included with in the RSG settlement for the local authority.

8.3 It is therefore imperative in the author’s view that all this additional funding is used 
for its intended purpose.

8.4 Finally, homelessness and housing is as high on the political agenda as they ever 
have been in living memory, both across the UK and perhaps even more so in 
Wales, where the effects of welfare reform are most acutely felt. This provides the 
Council with a unique opportunity to be at the forefront of measures and projects 
which address or mitigate its impacts on our communities here in Merthyr Tydfil.

8.5 The author is supporting a concerted effort by Welsh Registered Social Landlords 
and a wide range of external bodies, in challenging the perverse effects of Local 
Housing Allowance within Wales.

9.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES

9.1 Best Start to Life – there is significant evidence to show the devastating effects that 
homelessness can have on families with children. Being placed in temporary 
accommodation, for even the briefest of periods can be very upsetting and even 
neurologically damaging for children. The stress and anxiety caused within 
households facing homelessness inevitably leads to the prevalence of more Adverse 
Childhood Experiences (ACEs) for children caught up in the situation. Many of the 
projects and services outlined in this report are aimed at preventing homelessness, 
providing support to families in crisis and to quickly find new accommodation for 
those who find themselves homeless. 

9.2 Working Life – it is very difficult if not impossible to sustain employment if an 
individual becomes homeless. Furthermore it is very difficult to focus upon finding 
employment, when an individual’s basic human needs – shelter, are not satisfied. 
Therefore homelessness services are crucial to enabling people to find and sustain 
employment.

9.3 Living Well – chronic rough sleepers and those ‘marginally/tentatively housed’ are 
often (but not always) substance users and most, if not all, have three or more 
Adverse Childhood Experiences. This often leads them into crime to fund their habit, 
typically manifesting itself in petty crime such as shop lifting, but also more serious 
crime such as public order offences, violence and assaults. This behaviour inevitably 
has a negative impact on a communities’ perception of safety. Homelessness can 
have a catastrophic effects on a person’s physical and mental wellbeing. Numerous 
studies have shown that the prevalence of disease and mortality in rough sleepers 
for instance is far higher than the general population. At the less acute stages of 

Page 16



homelessness – cases where persons are going without food to pay rent or other 
costs (often debts) are sadly increasing with an inevitable detrimental effect on the 
person’s physical and mental health. Almost all of the projects outlined in this report 
focus upon enabling people to find suitable and affordable accommodation which 
meets their needs and aspirations to live well and to live independently.

ELLIS COOPER
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE

CLLR GERAINT THOMAS
REGENERATION & PUBLIC PROTECTION

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

List the Background 
documents which have 
been relied on in 
preparing the report. 
E.g. previous minutes of 
relevant committees

NONE

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Page 17



Guidelines for Reporting To Scrutiny Committees

The ‘key features of most successful meetings are defined as:-

(a) Brief presentation of the report by the Cabinet Member / Officer lasting no more 
than 15 minutes

(b) Appropriately robust questions prepared in advance by scrutiny and audit 
members

(c) Follow-up questions to initial responses
(d) A balance between Cabinet Member and officer responses to questions
(e) Targeting of specific questions by the chair to either officers or to the Cabinet 

Member or both
(f) The Cabinet Member volunteering appropriate information and responses whether 

or not the question was initially directed towards them.

Scrutiny committees have wide ranging remits. Each year Members agree a work 
programme, which identifies specific areas from within their remit that they will focus on 
throughout the year. This work will take up a large proportion of the time available in 
meetings. The time available for items not included in the work programme is therefore 
limited. The Committees will request reports from time to time on work programme 
items and occasionally on other items, which arise during the year.

Getting reports on to Scrutiny Agendas 

1. If a scrutiny committee has requested a report the Scrutiny Officer will contact the 
appropriate officer(s) and explain what the committee wants and when the agenda 
deadlines are. The deadline for submitting a report to scrutiny is a week before the 
actual meeting e.g. if the meeting is on a Monday the report is required by lunchtime 
the previous Monday (or the previous working day if a Bank Holiday)

2. If you have a report that you think should go to a scrutiny committee which has not 
been requested by the committee you should contact the Scrutiny Officer at the earliest 
possible opportunity so that they can discuss with the Chair whether they wish to take 
the report and where it will fit into the committee's work programme. This will avoid you 
wasting time preparing a report if the committee do not wish to consider it.

3. The Scrutiny Officer will be happy to advise and discuss draft reports with officers 
before they are finalised. They will also be happy to advise officers on how the meeting 
is likely to be conducted and how the committee prefers to have reports introduced at 
the meeting.

Format of Reports

4. Reports to Scrutiny Committees can be for a variety of different purposes and no single 
framework is likely to meet all needs. Officers therefore have flexibility in drafting 
reports in order to best meet the needs of the Committee. 

5. Reports for scrutiny committees should normally be written on the Councils “Scrutiny 
Committee Report” template. This does not apply to people from outside of the Council 

Page 18



as reports from external organisations should be written on the organisation’s own 
template and submitted to the appropriate Scrutiny Officer before they go on to agenda 
papers. In the case of external organisation reports the Scrutiny Officer will usually 
prepare a short covering report to explain the context and background to the report and 
include both in the agenda papers.

6. Scrutiny committees need to have reports which are accurate, focused, analytical and 
of appropriate length. It is often better to have a short covering report (up to 4 pages) 
with the necessary issues highlighted and analysed with the backing data and 
information in appendices. 

7. Reports should be written in clear understandable language and accessible to lay 
people. Acronyms and technical terms should be avoided as far as possible and when 
they must be used they should be defined or explained in the report. (R14 of the WAO Annual 
Improvement report and Corporate Assessment June 2015 state that “some reports are still far too long and the 
tendency by a small number of officers to include everything that seems relevant is counter-productive. Committee 
members end up being unsure about what is relevant and the key messages will often be lost). 

8. Officers will need to set their own layout and headings as the issues of the report 
dictate but generally the best reports tend to follow the format below; and within this 
focus on outputs and outcomes, not just activity and process:-

 Where were we? (Previous position a few years ago)
 Where do we want to be? (Our ambition)
 Where are we now? (Progress and improvements made)
 What do we need to do next to reach our ambition?

9. Within the four headings above, Scrutiny requires the reports to outline each key aspect 
through, but not necessarily limited to, the following:-

 a short description; 
 a clear analysis;
 an indication of what needs to occur to improve the aspect;
 how this improvement will be achieved; 
 the barriers that may need to be overcome;
 the outcomes and when these will be achieved;
 what success will look like
 if and how progress will be reported to scrutiny 
 show how your area(s) creates or provides value for money to the Council's 

work. 
 provide evidence of progress made ref Action Plans during a monitoring & 

evaluation programme.

Recommendations

10. Report writers should note that Scrutiny Committees cannot take decisions. They are 
influencing bodies.

11. The recommendations set out in reports should be carefully framed to reflect the 
purpose for bringing the report to the committee’s attention. Some examples of 
appropriate types of recommendations are:- 

Page 19



 That the scrutiny committee discusses and comments on the issues set out in 
the report. 

 That the scrutiny committee comments on the options set out in the report 
 That the scrutiny committee identifies any further information they would like to 

receive 
 That the scrutiny committee identifies priorities which can be taken into account 

by Cabinet in developing budget proposals
 That the scrutiny committee notes the contents of this report.

Reports for Information or Discussion 

12. The main items on scrutiny agendas are normally reports for discussion. Agendas 
may also include reports for information. Reports should normally be endorsed either 
"For Discussion" or "For Information". Scrutiny committees do not normally take 
decisions so reports should not be endorsed "for decision".

13. Check with the Scrutiny Officer how the report should be introduced at the committee. 
Scrutiny committees prefer officers to keep introductions short so that more time is 
available to discuss the report. 

14. The author or the author’s representative will usually be expected to attend the 
meeting, which considers the report, to introduce the report and answer questions.

15. Committees may also take some reports for information. These may be suggested by 
officers, or referred from other committees or requested by the scrutiny committee. 
Some information reports are submitted on a regular basis to keep the committee up to 
date on a particular topic. Information reports should be relevant to a committee's remit. 

Access to Information 

16. Scrutiny committee meetings are subject to the Council's Access to Information 
Procedure Rules, which are set out in the Constitution.

17. Agenda papers need to be published, then printed and distributed, at least 3 clear 
working days before the meeting takes place (not including the day it is published or the 
day of the meeting, nor weekends and bank holidays).

18. Most scrutiny reports are not confidential and will be available to the press and public 
once the agenda is circulated. You should bear this in mind when writing reports and 
should consider whether a report is likely to attract media attention or create 
controversy. This is particularly relevant if the information in the report is being made 
public for the first time. Remember that all committee reports are public documents 
(with the exception of exempt items).

19. If you consider it likely that a report will attract press interest or create controversy you 
should discuss this with the Scrutiny Officer; you may also wish to discuss it with the 
Communications Section.

Page 20



Civic Centre,  Castle Street

Merthyr Tydfil,  CF47 8AN

Main Tel:  01685 725000,  www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Working Life/ Developing the Environment & Infrastructure 
for Business to Flourish 

1. SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1. We have set wellbeing objectives for Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council on how we 
intend to achieve the objectives set out in our Plan ‘Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in 
our Community’.  The focus of this report is to demonstrate how we will ensure we will 
maximise our opportunities to develop the environment and infrastructure for 
businesses to flourish through a series of wellbeing projects.

1.2. The Council is committed to delivering excellent economic development and community 
regeneration services.  This report focuses on the specific wellbeing projects that the 
Council will undertake to deliver its wellbeing objectives and contribute to the national 
wellbeing goals in these fields.

1.3. There are 3 wellbeing projects which are currently being delivered:

 Relocation of the Bus Station – Phase 2;

 Active Travel Routes – Phase 1; and

Date Written Thursday, 12 October 2017

Accountable for Delivery Alyn Owen
Chris Long        Cheryl Jones
Judith Jones     Rhian Prosser
Chris Hole         Kevin Davies

Wellbeing Champion Annabel Lloyd

Committee Date Tuesday, 24 October 2017

Page 21

Agenda Item 4

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/


 Childcare Sufficiency Assessment.

1.4. This report establishes the baseline for these 3 wellbeing projects and highlights 
progress made in delivering these projects.  This will be reported to scrutiny at future 
meetings.

2. SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

2.1. The content of this report to be discussed and noted.

3. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1. The Council is committed to delivering excellent economic development and physical 
regeneration services.  It will do this by delivering its key strategies and through joint 
working with a range of partners.  The key strategies that focus on delivering excellent 
services are:

 Economic Growth Strategy (unpublished)
 Local Development Plan1 
 Rural Development Plan
 Regional Transport Plan

3.2. In our plan [Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community], we set out how we 
intend to achieve the Wellbeing Objectives.  The purpose of this report is to coordinate 
the performance and project information against our Wellbeing Objective "Developing 
the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish".

Legislative Context
3.3. 2The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 specifies that we must work to 

improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural wellbeing of Wales by 
maximising our contribution to the Wellbeing Goals.

 A prosperous Wales
 A resilient Wales
 A healthier Wales
 A more equal Wales
 A Wales of cohesive communities
 A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language
 A globally responsible Wales

1 The Local Development Plan is currently under review and is out for public consultation
2 Read the essential guide to the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015

Page 22

file:///C:/Users/purnem/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Wellbeing%20of%20Future%20Generations/Wellbeing%20Plan%20-%20Projects/Working%20Life%20-%20Projects/WL2%20-%20Projects/MT%20LDP%202006-2021.pdf
file:///C:/Users/purnem/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Wellbeing%20of%20Future%20Generations/Wellbeing%20Plan%20-%20Projects/Working%20Life%20-%20Projects/WL2%20-%20Projects/RDP%20Local%20Development%20Strategy%202014-2020.pdf
file:///C:/Users/purnem/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Wellbeing%20of%20Future%20Generations/Wellbeing%20Plan%20-%20Projects/Working%20Life%20-%20Projects/SE%20Wales%20Local%20Transport%20Plan%20(pub%202015).pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
http://thewaleswewant.co.uk/sites/default/files/Guide%20to%20the%20WFGAct.pdf


3.4. We must do this in accordance with the sustainable development principle, which 
means that we act in a manner that seeks to ensure the needs of the present are met 
without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.  There 
are 5 things that we need to do in order to show that we have applied the sustainable 
development principle.  The five things are:

 Long Term
 Preventative
 Involvement
 Collaboration
 Integrated

3.5. 3The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 specifies that we must seek to 
improve the wellbeing of people who need care and support, carers who need support 
and for transforming social services in Wales.  The focus of this Act is on what matters 
to the person and how they can use their own strengths and resources to do those 
things, which is determined by an assessment that involves the person and the 
professional(s).

4. WHERE WE WERE

4.1. An overview of the state of wellbeing in Cwm Taf was prepared in an assessment of 
wellbeing4, which provides background information on wellbeing in Merthyr Tydfil and 
Rhondda Cynon Taf.  

4.2. In addition, a population assessment5 was prepared to provide an overview of care and 
support needs of the people of Cwm Taf and the range of services required to meet 
those needs.  The findings from the wellbeing and population assessment contributed to 
the development of the statement of wellbeing for Merthyr Tydfil.

Wellbeing Statement
4.3. In our wellbeing statement we set out the scope of each wellbeing objective and outline 

why we consider that meeting the objective will maximise our contribution to the 
achievement of the seven wellbeing goals.  The focus of this report is on the wellbeing 
objective:

Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish
Development that integrates regeneration with sustainable urban design improves the 
built environment and strengthens the natural environment.

3 Read the essential guide to the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014
4 Information on the assessment of wellbeing is published on the Cwm Taf Portal.
5 Information on the population assessment is published on the Cwm Taf Portal.

Page 23

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/160127socialservicesacten.pdf
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-well-being
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-population-assessment


4.4. The built and natural environment can have a profound effect on people’s behaviour 
and opportunities and a significant impact on their wellbeing, particularly by where they 
live and work.  This wellbeing objective outlines the work we do in our communities to 
develop the environment and infrastructure which facilitates the growth of communities 
and a resilient local economy.

4.5. In Merthyr Tydfil, the Council will focus on the following components and their related 
outcomes in order to achieve our wellbeing objective:

 People have access to flexible, integrated and sustainable transport options;

 Suitable previously developed land that delivers a diverse supply of housing;

 Strengthening and diversifying the local economy; and

 Parents and carers have flexible childcare options.

5. OUR CONTRIBUTION

Reference to Performance and Projects
(Full details for all projects and performance measures in the AppendixII )

5.1. This report focuses on the specific projects that the Council will undertake to deliver our 
wellbeing objectives and contribute to the national wellbeing goals.  For "Developing the 
environment and infrastructure for business to flourish" there are 3 wellbeing projects:

 Relocation of the Central Bus Station – Phase 2

 Active Travel Routes - Phase 1

 Childcare Sufficiency Assessment

5.2. Key measures of performance (KPI)

5.3. We will judge how well these projects improve the wellbeing of people who live, work 
and visit Merthyr Tydfil using the following key indicators.  The key performance 
indicators respond to both the key components laid down in Point 4.5 (above) and the 
wellbeing projects

Key Performance Indicators 2016/17
Achieved

2017/18 
Target

2017/18 
Actual

2018/19
Target

Number of departures from the current Merthyr Tydfil 
Bus Station 

178,294 178,294 Not yet 
available

**   NEW MEASURE **
Total spaces available during term time (Family 
Information Service)

N/A 1859 1859 N/A

Page 24



**   NEW MEASURE **
Childcare spaces available during term time – nursery / 
childminders / Cylch Methrin (Family Information 
Service)

N/A 501 501 N/A

6. WHERE WE WANT TO BE

6.1. By monitoring key performance indicators and the outcomes of the projects we are 
delivering, we will know things are better when:

 All new housing developments, along with the management, adaptation and 
utilisation of the existing built environment, are suitable and sustainable for the 
long-term;

 There is improved connectivity between bus and train services sited within Merthyr 
Tydfil Town Centre to meet the changing needs of those who live, work and visit 
the county Borough;

 There is improved accessibility to all bus services departing the Central Bus 
Station;

 There is a decrease in the levels of anti-social behaviour and crime reported 
around the Central Bus Station; and

 Increased clarity around the affordability; accessibility and quality of childcare 
options for parents and carers.

7. WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

7.1. For each of the projects there are planned actions for delivery, as well as the milestones 
and the deadlines for those actions. The actions take into account the identified issues 
and risks.  

7.2. We need to explore the future project opportunities focusing on wellbeing in the 
following areas:

 Further development of activities linked to the Business Improvement District (BID) 
to include business engagement; promotion  of the BID Grants Programme etc.;

 The feasibility of free car parking to support increased usage of Merthyr Tydfil’s 
Town Centre businesses/facilities;

 The support offered to businesses to improve the availability of flexible childcare for 
parents and carers; 

 Improve the co-ordination of support to ensure all businesses have access to 
relevant financial support; 

Page 25



 Review the ‘Cycle to Work’ Active Travel scheme and explore the potential to 
increase awareness of; and

 Consider intelligence identified through delivery of the Economic Growth 
Strategy/Action Plan which will further inform opportunities for future wellbeing 
projects.

ALYN OWEN
CHIEF OFFICER 
COMMUNITY REGENERATION

GERAINT THOMAS
CABINET MEMBER FOR REGENERATION 

AND PUBLIC PROTECTION 

EVIDENCE
Title of Document(s)

 Statement of Wellbeing
 Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community

Does the report contain any issues that may 
affect the Council’s Constitution? Choose an item.

Page 26



APPENDIX 1

Wellbeing Project 1:  Relocation of the Central Bus Station – Phase 2

(a) Project Information

Project Title Relocation of the Central Bus Station – Phase 2

Project Manager Rhian Prosser / Chris Long

Report Period From 1st April 2017 Report Period To 30th September 2017

Accountable for Delivery Alyn Owen

Services Physical Regeneration

Wellbeing Objective Developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses to flourish

Component(s)  People having access to flexible, integrated and sustainable transport 
options

 Strengthening and diversifying the local economy

Project Description This project will provide a new town centre bus station and 
supplementary office and the retail space including a mess area for the 
bus drivers, a Police office and a coffee shop. The relocation of the bus 
station supports greater connectivity between buses, trains and other 
active travel routes.

Expected Benefits  Provide a suitable environment to attract potential bus users
 Provide accessible access to all bus services
 Decrease the high levels of anti-social behaviour and crime
 Improved access to the railway station and other active travel routes

Rationale for the Project Whilst the existing bus station is well utilised and functional, it does not 
provide a suitable environment to attract potential bus users and is a poor 
gateway for visitors coming into the Town Centre.  The existing layout 
does not assist parallel docking, increasing the difficulty of using the bus 
network for less mobile users.  

Due to the layout structure and enclosed tunnel bus bay waiting areas, it 
is a location of high levels of antisocial behaviour and crime leading to 
fear of crime which, research demonstrates, can negatively impact on 
wellbeing.

Start Date 01/10/2014

Finish Date To be confirmed6

Highlight Report Author Rhian Prosser

6 The Council is currently awaiting confirmation of funding for the next Phase from Welsh Government, until this is received, the end date cannot be proposed

Page 27



Key Actions

Relocation
In order to relocate the main Merthyr Tydfil Bus Station, the Council will:

 Develop a Business Plan supporting the relocation of the Bus Station;
 Prepare a Business Case;
 Develop a Funding Strategy to support delivery of the Business Plan/Case;
 Complete the acquisition of land process for the whole development site; and
 Tender stage – Secure the funds to provide a project manager and construct the new 

bus station.

Regeneration of Land on which the Existing Bus Station Site sits
In order to regenerate the existing site for a potential retail or mixed use site, the Council will:

 Undertake all remedial works; and
 Apply a marketing strategy to attract a suitable developer.

(b) Project Performance (KPIs)

SOURCE Number of departures from Merthyr Tydfil Central Bus Station annually7

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

Cohort 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT 182,620 183,388 182,083 178,294 N/A 178,294 -

Project Evaluation

All required actions have been completed in line to time, with the budget allocation.  

Progress since last highlight report

This is the first Highlight Report to be produced and subsequently, no update on a previous 
report is available.

7 As the project progresses, further measures linked to the practical relocation of the Bus Station will be identified and the relevant data 
captured to demonstrate the impact of the work

JUDGEMENT Adequate

Page 28



Targets for the next period

In order to relocate the main Merthyr Tydfil bus station, the local authority will:

 Complete the acquisition of land process for the whole development site; and
 Tender stage – Secure the funds to provide a project manager and construct the new 

bus station.

(d) Project Risks

Identify the risks from the latest Risk Register.  

Assessment of
Risk

Risk
No.

Risk
Description

I L S

Impact on 
Delivery/Benefits

Decision or 
action 
required

Responsible 
person for 
action

Date for 
decision or 
action

1 Welsh Government decides 
not to agree the funding for 
this project.

5 2 10 Without funding 
agreed, the 
project cannot be 
undertaken

Pending 
clarification 
and 
timescales 
from WG.

CL/RP/AO Ongoing

The above risk is subject to external funding sources and their availability and timescales 
associated with these to be confirmed by Welsh Government. 

(e) Project Issues

No issues have currently been identified for this stage of the project.

Page 29



Wellbeing Project 2:  Active Travel Routes

(a) Project Information

Project Title Active Travel Routes – Phase 1

Project Manager Cheryl Jones / Chris Long

Report Period From 1st April 2017 Report Period To 30th September 2017

Accountable for Delivery Alyn Owen

Services Active Travel

Wellbeing Objective Developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses to flourish

Component(s)  People having access to flexible, integrated and sustainable transport 
options

 Strengthening and diversifying the local economy

Project Description Active Travel is a government initiative to reduce vehicular journeys and 
increase journeys made by walking and cycling, including the use of 
mobility scooters.   This includes journeys to school, work and shops or to 
access services, such as health or leisure centres. Active Travel does not 
include walking and cycling for recreational purposes.

This project is important in promoting healthier lifestyles and reducing the 
negative impacts of traffic upon our neighbourhoods and communities.  
We aim to ensure we use the intelligence gathered from public 
consultation (directly with the public and through key delivery partners) to 
inform us as we shape the next phase of this project – development of 
further Active Travel Routes.

Expected Benefits By connecting key sites such as workplaces, hospitals, schools and 
shopping areas with active travel routes, we will encourage people to rely 
less on their cars when making short journeys.

Rationale for the Project Research show that in Wales, we face major challenges in securing the 
nation’s physical and mental health, both now and for future generations.  
Increasing levels of walking and cycling offers a very straightforward way 
of achieving multiple benefits to help us achieve this.  

Active Travel also aims to reduce motorized traffic and with it air pollution; 
carbon emissions and congestion.  This has been shown to help make 
people and communities feel more connected and boost local businesses 
whilst enabling education, jobs and services.

Start Date 01/04/2013

Finish Date 31 March 2018

Highlight Report Author Cheryl Jones

Page 30



Key Actions

To support review of the Active Travel Plan and continue to develop Active Travel Routes 
which our communities can use; we will:

 Identify the status prior to commencement of the project;
 Prepare appropriate materials (including digital) for use during the public consultation 

process to support active participation linked to future developments in this area;
 Undertake comprehensive consultation with the public, key stakeholders, project partners 

etc.;
 Review all feedback received in partnership with core delivery partners to inform future 

planning and update the Active Travel Route maps.

b) Project Performance

A full consultation exercise undertaken by the Council to identify the general public’s views in 
relation to Active Travel Routes.

The views of all respondents are currently being analysed; this intelligence will be used to 
support the planning for this next phase of this project.   Performance measures will be 
confirmed when the updated Action Plan has been devised.

Progress since last highlight report

This is the first Highlight Report to be produced and subsequently, no update on a previous 
report is available.

Targets for the next period

 Use the intelligence gathered from consultation with the public, stakeholders and key 
partners to refocus of the short-term Local Active Travel Plan;

 Submit the refocused short-term Local Active Travel Plan to Welsh Government by 
November 2017 to review;

 Continue to monitor existing Active Travel routes;

 Identify and secure funding to review the medium and long term routes laid down in the 
Active Travel Plan

Page 31



(c) Project Risks

Identify the risks from the latest Risk Register.  

Assessment of
Risk

Risk
No.

Risk
Description

I L S

Impact on 
Delivery/Benefits

Decision or 
action 
required

Responsible 
person for 
action

Date for 
decision or 
action

1 Non-compliance with the 
Active Travel Act resulting in a 
reduction in positive public 
perception with regards to 
Active Travel routes within 
Merthyr Tydfil

3 2 6 Non-compliance 
with the Active 
Travel Act 
resulting in a 
reduction in 
positive public 
perception with 
regards to Active 
Travel routes 
within Merthyr 
Tydfil

NA CJ/CL Ongoing 

2 Sustaining the infrastructure 
around the Active Travel 
routes (e.g.) reducing budgets 
could impact on the Council’s 
ability to maintain agreed 
routes

3 3 9 Routes not 
maintained and 
profile of routes is 
poor 

Ensure 
budget is 
maintained 
Explore 
wider 
funding 
sources 

CJ/CL On going 

(d) Project Issues

Assessment of 
Issue

Issue
No.

Issue
Description

I L S

Impact on 
Delivery/Benefits

Decision or 
action 
required

Responsible 
person for 
action

Date for 
decision or 
action

1 Sustaining the infrastructure 
around the Active Travel 
routes (e.g.) reducing budgets 
could impact on the Council’s 
ability to maintain agreed 
routes

3 Routes not 
maintained and 
profile of routes is 
poor

Ensure 
budget is 
maintained 

Explore 
wider 
funding 
sources

CJ/CL Ongoing

Page 32



Wellbeing Project 3:  Childcare Sufficiency Assessment

(a) Project Information

Project Title Childcare Sufficiency Assessment

Project Manager Chris Hole

Report Period From 1st April 2017 Report Period To 30th September 2017

Accountable for Delivery Alyn Owen

Services Early Years and Childcare Team; Family Information Service

Wellbeing Objective Developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses to flourish

Component(s)  Parents and carers have flexible childcare options

Project Description This project seeks to secure feedback from communities across Merthyr 
Tydfil to establish whether there are sufficient childcare places accessible 
across the County Borough to meet parents and carers needs.

The 2017 Childcare Sufficiency Assessment includes analysis of the new 
CSSIW self-assessment  process completed by providers across the 
Local Authority and  includes some analysis of availability to education of 
children term after their third birthday  building towards  the 30 hour 
childcare offer which is currently being piloted across Wales. 

It is important to note that the Childcare Sufficiency Assessment is only 
conducted every 5 years with a smaller refreshing of the data being 
available midway through this cycle and required by Welsh Government.  
This is also supplemented by the Play Sufficiency Assessment 
periodically. 

Expected Benefits  Direct feedback be secured from service users; childcare providers; 
early years and family support services; schools etc.;

 A clearer picture of the usage of formal and informal childcare across 
the County Borough;

 Greater clarity around the affordability; accessibility and quality of 
childcare options for service users;

 Examples of barriers to accessing formal childcare

Rationale for the Project Research demonstrates that increasingly common early childcare plays 
an important role in children’s development and provides a valuable 
support to families with young children.  It is therefore important to 
understand the impact of these services and to ensure their quality and 
accessibility.

The Childcare Sufficiency Assessment is a vital tool to support 
information sharing with then public, professionals, Elected Members and 
the childcare market itself.

Start Date 01/10/2017

Page 33



Finish Date 31 March 2019

Highlight Report Author Chris Hole

Key Actions

 Review the business support available to the childcare sector
 Identify opportunities for social enterprise businesses in childminding in partnership with 

economic development 
 Ensure access to a workforce development programme to maintain the number of settings

(b) Project Performance

SOURCE **  NEW MEASURE  **
Total  spaces available during Term Time – Family Information Service

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

Cohort 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT - - - - 1859 1859 N/A

SOURCE
**  NEW MEASURE  **
Childcare spaces available Term Time – nursery / childminders / Cylch Meithrin)  
- Family Information Service

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

Cohort 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT - - - - 501 501 N/A

Progress since last highlight report

This is the first Highlight Report to be produced and subsequently, no update on a previous 
report is available.

Targets for the next period

 Finalise the 2017 CSA which is currently out for consultation and submit to Full Council for 
approval as required

 Develop an Action Plan with Community Regeneration team’s Economic Development 
group on childminding as a social enterprise opportunity

Page 34



(c) Project Risks

There are currently no identified risks linked to delivery of this project.

(d) Project Issues

There are currently no identified risks linked to delivery of this project.

Page 35



APPENDIX 2

People have access to flexible, integrated and sustainable transport options

SOURCE Percentage of children completing the National Standards Cycle 
Training Level 1 and 2

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT 49.4% 50% 52% 67.2% Available at 
year end 70% N/A

Wales 33.3% 36.6% 34% N/A Available at 
year end - N/A

SOURCE Percentage of children offered Kerbcraft completing the scheme

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT 0 95.8% 92.8% 94.1% Available at 
year end 96% N/A

Wales 95.1% 98% 95.8% N/A Available at 
year end - N/A

Suitable previously developed land that delivers a diverse supply of housing

SOURCE The number of new houses built (affordable)

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

20 26 41 19 Available at 
year end N/A

SOURCE The number of new houses built (market)

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT 115 75 79 154 Available at 
year end N/A

Page 36



Parents and carers have flexible childcare options

SOURCE **  NEW MEASURE  **
Total Childcare Spaces available during holidays

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT - - - - 718 718 N/A

SOURCE **  NEW MEASURE  **
Total Childcare Spaces through the medium of Welsh

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT - - - - 82 82 N/A

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Destination Management Plan Update  

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform Scrutiny Committee regarding the work of the 
Destination Management Plan (DMP - Appendix 1) and update on the associated 
projects and priority themes.

1.2 This report comprises of the progress made in implementing the new DMP, its 
planned thematic groups and Destination Management Partnership who will oversee 
the work on the 'Programme of Priorities' (Pages 17-19 of the DMP).

1.3 The report will feature updates on key tourism sites such as the Cyfarthfa Heritage 
Area, Rock UK Summit Centre, BikePark Wales, Trago Mills and outline our current 
relationship with the Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust (MTLT). 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 That the scrutiny committee discusses and comments on the information set out in 
the report. 

2.2 That the scrutiny committee identifies any further information they would like to 
receive as part of Scrutiny's Forward Plan.

2.3 That the scrutiny committee notes the contents of this report.

Date Written Monday 16th November 2017
Report Author Ryan Barry / Chris Long 
Service Area Community Regeneration 
Committee Date Tuesday 24th October 2017

Page 39

Agenda Item 5



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 In 2013, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council was one of the first Local Authorities 
in Wales to develop and implement its first Destination Management Plan which 
covered a three-year period (2013-15). The original DMP acted as a mechanism to 
coordinate all aspects of tourism development and area management; working in a 
collaborative manner with key stakeholders situated across the County Borough.

3.2 Then in 2016, the Council developed its second Destination Management Plan 
covering a three year period (2016-18). The current plan outlines the Local 
Authority's commitment to developing the tourism sector further and highlights the 
important role that external stakeholders have in assisting the Council in achieving 
its 'Programme of Priorities'. 

3.3 With the development of a second Destination Management Plan came a greater 
focus on the tourism sector which also saw the Council ratify a request from the 
Community Regeneration Department to utilise residual funds to finance a 
Destination Management Coordinator who will oversee the implementation of the 
DMP, engage with key external stakeholders and coordinate the planned Destination 
Management Partnership and Thematic Groups who will lead on destination 
development locally.

3.4 The Community Regeneration Department has been asked to give an update 
regarding the work of the Destination Management Plan over the last year following
on from the last Scrutiny Committee Meeting on the 15th November 2016.

4.0 WHERE WE WERE 

4.1 Prior to the last Scrutiny Committee Meeting on the 15th November 2016 we were 
yet to appoint a Destination Management Coordinator. In December 2016 the 
Community Regeneration Department appointed Lyndsey Handley into the role, who 
with the assistance of the Programme Manager, started developing a vision and 
engagement plan in preparation to start implementing the DMP and organise the 
setting-up of the Destination Management Partnership and Thematic Groups.  

4.2 The approach to implement, coordinate and evaluate the impact of the DMP was 
previously agreed internally with the thematic groups identified in the structure below 
playing a pivotal role in achieving the priorities set-out in the DMP.

Page 40



4.3 The Community Regeneration Department has previously engaged with a number of 
key organisations that we envisage will sit on either the overarching Destination 
Management Partnership and / or one of the four thematic groups identified in 
Section 4.2. Some of the organisations that the department has engaged with are as 
follows:

 Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust
 Merthyr Business Club
 Merthyr Tydfil College
 Merthyr Tydfil Job Centre
 Tydfil Training Consortium Ltd
 Taff Bargoed Regeneration Partnership
 Various Private Sector Businesses
 Various Voluntary Sector Organisations
 Career Wales
 South East Wales Destination Management Group
 Visit Wales

4.4 To coincide with the launch of the new Destination Management Plan the 
Community Regeneration Department developed a new activity tourism video which 
went live on the 7th December 2016. Being just over a year old the video has been 
viewed more than 33,000 times, has reached nearly 335,000 people worldwide and 
received nearly 2,000 reactions (likes, shares, comments) on Facebook alone.  

Page 41



4.5 In terms of tourism trends Merthyr Tydfil has seen a steady increase in visitor 
numbers over the last couple of years which has had a positive effect on the County 
Borough's economy and the number of FTE jobs. The table below outlines the 
growth of tourism over a four-year period:

Merthyr Tydfil 2013 2014 2015 2016

Growth 
(%)from 
2015-16 

Total Annual Economic Impact of Tourism (million) 58.7 63.5 66.45 69.44 3.10%
Total Number of Annual Visitors (million) 1.04 1.21 1.23 1.26 2.70%
Total Number of Actual Visitors Staying 144,500 160,000 170,000 172,000 0.80%

Total Number of FTE jobs supported by tourism in 
Merthyr Tydfil 860 879 907 921 4.70%

Below are the identified key projects and themes that the Destination Management 
Plan and Community Regeneration Department wish to update on in relation to 

where we were: 

4.6 Cyfarthfa Castle:

 Planned restoration and refurbishment of Cyfarthfa Castle at a total cost of c. £21m – 
split into phases. 

 Application to Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) for Phase 1 of the redevelopment was 
successful - approved in September 2016. 

 Application submitted for a Collections Store, Learning Zone and Enterprise Centre 
currently in development.

 Appointed Purcell as the dedicated Design Team for the redevelopment of the 
former school side of the Castle. 

 £1m secured through the VVP Programme and MTCBC Capital Programme for 
urgent repair works on the roof of the Castle 

4.7 Cyfarthfa Park:

 Green Flag status was awarded in July 2016 which outlined the achievement of high 
environmental standards for the Park. 

 Application to HLF for Phase 1 of the re-development of the Park successful - 
approved in December 2016. 

 Additional capital projects including signage, access improvements and drainage 
schemes were considered as part of the HLF funding proposal.

 Planned volunteering opportunities in the park and wider heritage area. 
 Dedicated 'Activity Plan' targeting the 'hardest to reach' groups was developed.
 All proposals developed collaboratively with the Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust

4.8 Cyfarthfa Furnaces:

 Completed a site Feasibility Study, removed vegetation and filmed the overall site 
with a drone.  

 Undertook a sectioned radar survey (check the slag content in the ground). 

Page 42



 Completed a full structural survey on the actual furnaces and completed an ecology 
study for the structure and surrounding area.

4.9 Rock UK Summit Centre:

 MTCBC assisted Rock UK Summit Centre with accessing approximately £4.2m of 
finance from Visit Wales (Welsh Government), Ffos-y-Fran Large Grant and the Big 
Lottery Fund.

 On the 28th November 2016, MTCBC supported Rock UK Summit Centre's launch 
and announcement of the redevelopment with a ground-breaking ceremony officially 
marked by Ken Skates AM.

 Over the reporting period, MTCBC has assisted Rock UK Summit Centre with 
producing guidance on contractor procurement, supported a procurement event to 
enable local contractors to apply for works and has advised the centre in terms of 
complying with their various grant conditions

4.10 BikePark Wales:

 The Directors of the company worked with MTCBC officers to explore ways to 
expand the current building to incorporate changing rooms, an expanded bike hire 
facility and additional food provision.

 Scoped out the feasibility of expanding the trails network onsite including wider links 
to the Taff Trail.

4.11 Marketing, Publicity, Events & Perception Changing:

 MTCBC has been involved in both a local and regional marketing campaign. Our 
local campaign has consisted of distributing over 8000 promotional Visit Merthyr 
Tydfil guides across key tourism sites from the Midlands to Somerset, across Wales 
and throughout the County Borough. 

 The Visit Merthyr Tydfil website received over 175,000 hits in the past year. 
 As of April 2017, the Destination Management Co-ordinator was successful in 

securing further funding from Visit Wales which include a £50,000 grant to facilitate 
and grow the Merthyr Rising Festival over a two-year period, a grant for Cyfarthfa 
Park to host the Man Engine Cymru Tour in 2018 as well as a joint grant to be 
included in the Valleys and Southern Wales Tourism campaign for 2017-19.

4.12 Activity Tourism:

 MTCBC launched its first activity tourism video last year, which to date, has reached 
nearly 335,000 people worldwide. 

 The Community Regeneration Department has worked with a number of activity 
tourism providers and accommodation businesses which has resulted in increased 
visitor figures across the sector.

4.13 Heritage & Culture:

 MTCBC have facilitated and supported projects and ideas in the Merthyr Tydfil 
Heritage Trust and Merthyr Tydfil Heritage Forum. 

 The department was instrumental in organising the Merthyr Tydfil 2016 Heritage & 
Regeneration Conference.

Page 43



4.14 From a regional perspective, MTCBC continues to be the lead partner on the South 
East Wales Destination Management Group (DMG). The Group have led on the 
development of a South East Wales Destination Investment Plan (DIP) which took 
into account each Local Authorities Top Five City Deal Projects, their own respective 
DMP’s and any relevant strategic documents / masterplans that exhibit potential 
cross border, collaborative working. 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 

5.1 On Friday 13th October 2017 the Community Regeneration Department held its 
annual Destination Day with representation from the private sector and other key 
stakeholders. As part of the day Local Authority officers updated the audience 
regarding its work over the course of a year as well as plans for specific tourism 
associated projects over the coming years. In addition, there were also updates 
given from Trago Mills, Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust, Rock UK Summit Centre and 
Merthyr Rising CIC.

5.2 The Community Regeneration Department are now in a position where it has fully 
engaged with the private sector and the majority of key stakeholders across the 
County Borough with planned thematic group and overarching Destination 
Management Partnership meetings planned out.

Below are the identified key projects and themes that the Destination Management 
Plan and Community Regeneration Department wish to update on in relation to 
where they are now: 

5.3 Cyfarthfa Castle:
 

 The application now includes the proposed re-location of the Museum into the top 
floor of the former school side.  

 Tender opportunity for design and relocation of the Museum has been developed. 
 Work with Purcell to develop designs / costs for the Phase 1 redevelopment.
 Christie and Co appointed to undertake a feasibility study on the potential of a 

boutique hotel for the current ‘Museum’ side of the Castle (Phase 2) - this proposal 
will help ensure the sustainability of the Castle in the long term.

 MTCBC and MTLT to develop a ‘prospectus’ to test the market in terms of private 
sector interest for the hotel to better understand demand.

 The hotel development will create opportunities for private sector investment and will 
be developed in conjunction with the  Phase 1 development.

5.4 Cyfarthfa Park:

 Developed an improved volunteering programme linked to core volunteering policy of 
MTLT. 

 Aligned the departments 'capital programme' to key priorities of investment linked to 
commercial opportunities for MTLT and to ensure the Park becomes more 
sustainable and marketable.

 Currently out to tender to develop all designs for those proposed capital projects. 
 Business Plan for Cyfarthfa Park currently in development.
 Pilot of schemes being undertaken within the Park.

Page 44



5.5 Cyfarthfa Furnaces:

 Full radar survey undertaken on the site. 
 Budget secured for this financial year for further site clearance and fencing to ensure 

the top of the structure remains safe and cannot be accessed.
 Charrette being led by Design Commission for Wales which will focus on the 

Furnaces site and consider opportunities / future uses for the site. 
 Discussing opportunities for volunteering onsite which will be considered as part of a 

HLF Parks for People 2 application.

5.6 Rock UK:

 MTCBC currently meet with Rock UK on a monthly basis to facilitate and monitor 
progress of the expansion project. 

 As at October 2017, building work is still on schedule and to cost.
 Rock UK recently showcased and updated their plans at the annual Destination Day 

at Orbit Business Centre.

5.7 BikePark Wales:

 MTCBC has worked directly with BikePark to develop a funding application to Welsh 
Government relating to two key proposals (widening the road to the top of the 
mountain and connecting the centre to the services (Electric and Water).

 The Community Regeneration Department will continue to work with BikePark 
Wales, along with our colleagues in the Planning Department in relation to exploring 
the expansion to the size of the centre and other associated ancillary projects.

5.8 Trago Mills:

 The Community Regeneration Department have supported the Directors and senior 
staff of Trago in preparation for their opening in April 2017.

 MTCBC currently exploring the opportunity of having a Tourist Information Centre 
(TIC) at the Trago Mills site with anticipated footfall of over 3m people annually. 

 MTCBC, via the Economic Growth Partnership are currently working with Trago to fill 
the 344 proposed jobs for the site.

5.9 Marketing, Publicity, Events & Perception Changing:

 On a local level, work is in progress to develop a brand new Visit Merthyr Tydfil 
website. 

 Since hosting the annual Destination Day, a new MT Marketing, Publicity, Events & 
Perception Changing group will be established who will collaboratively take 
ownership and deliver a wealth of marketing, promotional and events campaign and 
products.   

5.10 Heritage & Culture:

 MTCBC have organised the annual 2017 Heritage and Regeneration Conference 
being held at Merthyr Town Football Club on the 27th October 2017. 

 Following on from the recent annual Destination Day a number of attendees have 
expressed interest to join Merthyr Tydfil Heritage Trust and / or Forum to actively 
pursue a targeted programme of priorities to be delivered by 2018. 

Page 45



 The Destination Management Coordinator is additionally proactively facilitating the 
Man Engine Cymru Tour in partnership with the Leisure Trust at Cyfarthfa park with 
an anticipated attendance figure of 8,000 visitors projected.

5.11 Trails Development:

 MTCBC has identified short (1 -5 years), medium (5-10 years) and long term (10 
years plus) plans for creation of new routes across the County Borough.

 A signage audit on the Taff Trail has been completed with 95% of new signs 
currently erected.

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 

6.1 The Community Regeneration Department has done an excellent job engaging with 
and obtaining buy-in from external agencies in order to achieve the objectives set out 
in the DMP’s ‘Programme of Priorities’. Over the next 12months each of the thematic 
groups and overarching Destination Management Partnership would have 
succeeded in evolving the tourism sector, products and services further in line with 
the aspirations set-out in the DMP.

6.2 It has always been one of the main aspirations of the Local Authority that the 
majority or all of the thematic groups are set-up or evolve to incorporate formalised 
constitutions and structures where they are able to apply for grant funding to assist 
them in achieving their proposed objectives over the coming year. The European & 
External Funding Team will assist those thematic groups to set-up in a formalised 
structure.

Below are the identified key projects and themes that the Destination Management 
Plan and Community Regeneration Department wish to update on in relation to 
where we want to be: 

6.3 Cyfarthfa Castle:

 Submission of a full HLF funding application planned for September 2018.
 MTCBC will have secured a large proportion of ERDF funding to match against the 

before mentioned HLF application. 
 Work with potential hotelier(s) regarding concept designs. 
 Planed Consultation events to be held with key stakeholders on both Phases 1& 2.

6.4 Cyfarthfa Park:
 

 Submission of a HLF funding application planned for February 2018.  
 Continue to work with the Leisure Trust to identify ways to continue to enhance the 

product and economic sustainably of the park going forward.  
 Due to undertake a detailed consultation on the proposed programme in November 

2017.

6.5 Cyfarthfa Furnaces:

 A report will be prepared following the Charrette which will outline the potential 
opportunities for the Furnaces site.

Page 46



6.6 Rock UK:

 Rock UK Summit Centre is still on target to open the new facility in the spring 2018.
 The redevelopment will comprise of a new café, outdoor play area, gym and fitness 

centre, meeting and conference rooms, ensuite accommodation for up to 100 people 
plus a range of new outdoor activities being provided.

 MTCBC will support Rock UK Summit Centre with their grand opening. 

6.7 BikePark Wales:

 BikePark Wales would have secured the finance from Welsh Government to widen 
the road infrastructure and connect the building to the utilities (as mentioned in 
Section 5.7) 

6.8 Trago Mills:

 The Trago Mills site will have a Local Authority run state of the art TIC onsite with an 
opportunity to influence / showcase the County Borough to circa. 3m annual visitors.

 A large proportion of the 344 would have been filled by local residents through the 
direct work of MTCBC and its Economic Growth Partnership.  

6.9 Marketing, Publicity, Events & Perception Changing:

 The County Borough, through the work of the proposed Marketing, Publicity, Events 
& Perception Changing Group will benefit from a new Visit Merthyr Website.

 The group will ideally be the mechanism where all localised tourist attractions 
participate in some form of 'joint marketing campaign' where marketing budgets are 
shared and the Merthyr Tydfil overall product reaches further - for less money.

6.10 Activity Tourism:

 As a major theme within the Destination Management Plan programme of priorities, 
Activity Tourism will be a key focus for the next eighteen months.

6.11 Heritage & Culture:

 As a major theme within the Destination Management Plan programme of priorities, 
Cultural Heritage tourism will be a key focus for the next eighteen months.

6.12 Trails Development:

 Officers are working in partnership with local running groups to physically mark a 
section of the Taff Trail from Cefn Coed to Ponsticill in distances of miles and 
kilometres.

Page 47



7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

7.1 The Destination Management Coordinator has programmed in the meetings for the 
four thematic groups and overarching Destination Management Partnership. These 
are shown in the table below:

7.2 Present the planned approach to implement and evaluate the planned work on the 
DMP to the Strategic Economic Regeneration & Tourism Board who will oversee the 
overarching Destination Management Partnership and proposed thematic groups.

7.3 Support the more prominent destination management developments (Cyfarthfa, 
BPW, Trago and Rock UK) over the next 12months as well as reacting to further 
destination management associated opportunity for the region.

7.4 Lead on the Phase Two development of the South East Wales Destination 
Investment Plan to ensure the strategic document is fit for purpose and is well 
represented by Merthyr Tydfil opportunities and projects.

7.5 Explore funding opportunities to finance a new TIC at Trago Mills. 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO CORPORATE PRIORITIES

8.1 The Destination Management Plan is integral to the each of the Local Authority's 
Corporate Priorities; with Priority Area 5 - Economic Development being the most 
specific to the work of the Community Regeneration Department. 

8.2 In relation to Priority Area 1 - Raising standards of attainment, the document will 
focus its attention on working with internal departments and key stakeholders such 
as Merthyr Tydfil College and Tydfil Training in order to provide training opportunities 
relevant to the need of the area. 

8.3 With regards to the DMP's impact on improving inclusion & wellbeing in the County 
Borough the proposed Destination Management Partnership will look at mechanisms 
to which we can again work with colleagues from internal teams and stakeholders to 

Page 48



develop an environment which promotes the opportunity for independent living in the 
community, active lifestyles through quality facilities (paid and free) and meets the 
needs of vulnerable children by liaising with colleagues from national programmes 
such as Flying Start and Families First.

8.4 Economic growth is our key objective within the Community Regeneration 
Department and by the DMP focussing its attentions on Economic Development and 
the 'employability' agenda we have an excellent resource to develop both fields 
further over the next three years. The 'Partnership' will consider all aspects of 
Economic Growth ranging from inward investment, job creation, business expansion 
and stimulating entrepreneurship across the County Borough.    

8.5 The 'Destination Management Partnership' will look to develop a sustainable 
environment in collaboration with internal colleagues with an overall aim of ensuring 
that the people of Merthyr Tydfil live in communities that are sustainable, clean and 
energy efficient. Therefore, the DMP will actively work toward protecting our 
environment with an extensive range of planned activities. These range from 
reducing pollution and the amount of waste sent to landfill to protecting areas of 
parkland, wildlife reserves and biodiversity.

ELLIS COOPER 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE  

COUNCILLOR CHRIS BARRY 
PORTFOLIO MEMBER, REGENERATION, 

PLANNING AND COUNTRYSIDE

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Merthyr Tydfil 
Destination 

Management Plan 
2016-18

July 2016 Attached as Appendix 1

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



Destination Management Plan
2016-2018

Merthyr Tydfil

P
age 51



Merthyr Tydfil Destination Management Plan2

CONTENTS

1. FOREWORD - Mr Gareth Chapman - Chief Executive, Merthyr Tydfil CBC   ...........................................................   3

2. INTRODUCTION TO DESTINATION MANAGEMENT   ................................................................................................   4

 2.1 What is a Destination Management Plan?   ............................................................................................   4

 2.2 A Collaborative Approach - The Destination Management Partnership   .................................................  4

 2.3 Strategic Context   .................................................................................................................................   5

 2.4 Background of Tourism in Merthyr Tydfil   ..............................................................................................   5

3. PROGRESS FROM 2013 TO 2015   ......................................................................................................................   6

 3.1 Impact of the Initial Destination Management Plan   ............................................................................   6

 3.2 Key Projects 2013-15 - Product Development   ....................................................................................   7

 3.3 Key Projects 2013-15 - Destination Development  ...............................................................................   9

4. PRIORITIES FOR MERTHYR TYDFIL 2016-18   ....................................................................................................   11

 4.1 Planned Infrastructure Developments 2016-18   ................................................................................   11

 4.2 Themes Going Forward   ......................................................................................................................   13

5. SWOT ANALYSIS   ............................................................................................................................................   15

6. ACTION PLAN   .................................................................................................................................................   18

P
age 52



www.visitmerthyr.co.uk 3

1. FOREWORD

Tourism is vitally important to the 
economy of Merthyr Tydfil and offers huge 
opportunities as a destination through our 
natural environment, the region’s unique 
history and its excellent geographical 
location. Much of the analysis set out in 
the previous Destination Management 
Plan (DMP) is still relevant - however, it is 
now time to review this in light of changing 
circumstances and new opportunities and 
re-evaluate the progress that has been 
made to date.

The new Merthyr Tydfil Destination 
Management Plan has been subject to 
extensive consultation and engagement 
with public, private and third sector 
organisations. The priorities of the plan 
will be delivered in partnership with local 
stakeholders to establish a destination 
that demonstrates a commitment to 
partnership working. To deliver on the 
DMP, everybody has a part to play in 
ensuring Merthyr Tydfil sustains its 
position as a diverse and welcoming visitor 
destination in which people wish to live, 
visit and enjoy.

The previous DMP for Merthyr Tydfil 
was produced back in 2013 and has 
served us well. This period has seen the 
accommodation sector in particular grow 
significantly in terms of numbers. Our 
natural environment has given rise to a 
thriving activity tourism offer which has 
seen more international visitors come 
to the region. We are proud to say that 
BikePark Wales has matured into a truly 

world class facility over the last few years 
with planned developments for Rock 
UK Summit Centre surely putting the 
attraction in a similar stature. In addition, 
we are confident that the new facilities 
such as Parkwood Outdoors Dolygaer, 
situated near Pontsticill, will strengthen 
this sector further. Our suite of activity 
tourism opportunities, combined with our 
unique cultural heritage offer, made up 
of attractions such as Cyfarthfa Park & 
Museum and our Welsh cultural centre 
- Canolfan Soar, will undoubtedly ensure 
that Merthyr Tydfil sustains its position as 
a first class visitor destination.

Merthyr Tydfil has a huge amount to 
offer visitors, but we are still an evolving 
destination and are always looking for 
ways in which to improve our current 
tourism offer. This new DMP and 
complementary Action Plan, which sets 
out priorities for delivery, provides a 
blueprint for the next three years.

Gareth Chapman 
OStJ., DL., LLM., 
C.Mgr., DBA., 
DipLG., FCMI., 
Solicitor

Chief Executive 
Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council

P
age 53



Merthyr Tydfil Destination Management Plan4

2. INTRODUCTION TO DESTINATION MANAGEMENT:

2.1 WHAT IS A DESTINATION MANAGEMENT PLAN?

A Destination Management Plan (DMP) is a strategic 
document collaboratively produced with a range of 
stakeholders aiming to manage a region over a set period. 
The DMP is intended to be a practical working document 
that articulates the roles and responsibilities of a range 
of stakeholders set against clear objectives identified in 
the Action Plan and positively contributes to the visitor’s 
experience.

The DMP sets out a vision for Merthyr Tydfil’s future, 
exploring connectivity linked directly to the experience 
of both visitors and residents. The document will cover 
a three-year period, and in doing so, give all those 
concerned with tourism in the region a formalised 
timeframe to develop, implement and evaluate their work 
whilst gaining an insight into how a collaborative approach 
to ‘Destination Management’ can have a positive impact 
on a region like Merthyr Tydfil. 

At a national level, the development and evolution of the 
tourism sector has been recognised by Welsh Government 
as one of the nine key sectors of the economy. Its strategy 
for tourism 2013-20, ‘Partnership for Growth’, identifies 
‘Destination Management’ as being fundamental in 
improving the appeal of County Borough’s throughout 
Wales and emphasises the importance of outdoor tourism, 
the environment, heritage, culture and events to the 
Welsh economy. 

Destination Merthyr Tydfil is determined to see the 
provision of a high quality visitor experience which 
exceeds the expectations of our visitors, positively 
influencing people’s views of the area (and Wales in 
general), ensuring repeat visits and recommendations 
thereafter. 

2.2  A COLLABORATIVE APPROACH - THE DESTINATION MANAGEMENT PARTNERSHIP:

To implement, manage and evaluate the impact of the 
Destination Management Plan, Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council will co-ordinate the varied range of 
stakeholders and internal departments set-out in the 
‘Action Plan’. This collaboration of the Local Authority 
and key stakeholders will be called the Destination 
Management Partnership. 

Destination Management means long-term collaboration 
between stakeholders such as the Merthyr Tydfil Leisure 
Trust, tourist attractions, accommodation providers, 
businesses, traders and residents – to ensure the best 
possible visitor experience, as well as the evolution and 
sustainability of the destination. It is essential that all 
stakeholders work in partnership to make sure there are 
no gaps or failures in the provision and that the package is 
professional and covers everything required by the visitor. 

Stakeholders will again commit to handing pre-determined 
strategic issues in servicing visitor needs and by the Local 
Authority managing a tool such as a new Destination 
Management Plan, which invaluable helps both 
businesses and organisations to visualise the complete 
visitor ‘journey’ can help achieve Merthyr Tydfil becoming 
a first class tourism destination.

P
age 54



www.visitmerthyr.co.uk 5

2.3 STRATEGIC CONTEXT:

Visit Wales understand that making a destination work 
effectively from a visitor’s perspective is essential to 
destination management. For a destination to work it 
needs buy-in from all stakeholders involved, working in 
partnership to make sure there are no gaps or failures in 
the provision. 

The Local Authority understands the importance of 
evolving its current Destination Management Plan, 
ensuring it aligns itself to our Corporate Priorities and 
Local Development Plan. Furthermore, MTCBC has 
identified the DMP as a priority going forward, having 
strategically linked its Action Plan to our Corporate Plan 
and embedded it into both our Economic Growth Plan and 
Strategic Programme, which includes the Vibrant & Viable 
Places and EU-funded programmes.

Some of the important pieces that make up the entire 
destination include:

•   Visitor information provided by the Local Authority and 
Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust

•   Accommodation, attractions and activity development

•   Cultural and countryside experiences by localised and 
national organisations

•   Transport links and maintenance of all forms of travel 
routes across the County Borough

•   Car parking, toilets and public buildings / spaces

•   Developing a diverse, viable and vibrant economy

•   Interaction with the host communities

MTCBC and our stakeholders knowing and understanding 
how the above pieces fit together is key to the partnership 
achieving an effective Destination Management Plan.

2.4 BACKGROUND OF TOURISM IN MERTHYR TYDFIL:

The tourism industry is recognised as being a vital 
contributor to the Merthyr Tydfil economy and in recent 
years has seen the sector grow with the emergence of 
activity tourism in the area coupled with the regions 
significant industrial past and historical value. 

The town is ideally situated at the crossroads of Wales’s 
major transport road the A470 and the A465, the main 
artery that links Swansea to the Midlands (England). 
With an excellent central location, Merthyr Tydfil is a 
perfect base for exploring the Valleys, Brecon Beacons 
National Park, Cardiff and Swansea. Furthermore, the 
town is less than two hours from Birmingham, Bristol, 
Bath, Cheltenham, Gloucester, Worcester, Hereford and 
Swindon. 

The majority of current visitors to Merthyr Tydfil are 
considered day visitors, making up 84% of the visits to 
the County Borough, compared to 9% who stay with 
friends / family, and the remaining 7% that reside at 
local accommodation providers. The majority of day 
visitors come to Merthyr Tydfil to experience the area’s 
cultural heritage, activities, various attractions and shops. 
Alternatively, the overnight visitors who stay in the County 
Borough tend to use primary attractions such as BikePark 
Wales, Rock UK Summit Centre, Brecon Mountain 
Railway and Cyfarthfa Park & Museum, whilst again using 
Merthyr Tydfil’s ideal location as a base to explore the 
surrounding areas. 

P
age 55



Merthyr Tydfil Destination Management Plan6

3. PROGRESS FROM 2013 TO 2015:

3.1 IMPACT OF THE INITIAL DESTINATION MANAGEMENT PLAN:

Following the implementation of Merthyr 
Tydfil’s initial Destination Management 
Plan in 2013, the Local Authority co-
ordinated the delivery of the Action Plan 
which involved managing / developing 
the tourism infrastructure, overseeing 
a number of significant projects and 
encouraging substantial investment into 
the area; all in partnership with our key 
stakeholders. 

The work over this period has certainly 
made Merthyr Tydfil a more sustainable 
tourism destination, created jobs, 
attracted inward investment and afforded 
businesses the opportunity to take 
advantage of the economic benefits 
associated with being situated in an 
evolving, first class visitor destination.

P
age 56



www.visitmerthyr.co.uk 7

3.2 KEY PROJECTS 2013-15 - PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT:

Project Description Funding

BikePark Wales Since opening in 2013, BikePark Wales has fast become a key attraction in the area, strengthening 
Merthyr Tydfil’s position as one of the most dynamic activity tourism destinations in Wales. Recognised 
as Europe’s only year-round, purpose-built, gravity trail centre. To date, BikePark Wales has seen over 
155,000 people visit the facility, with a large proportion of these being international visitors. During the 
implementation of our initial DMP, the Local Authority recognised the strength that the centre brings to 
the region, and in doing so arranged for the Directors of the company to familiarise themselves with other 
tourism sector businesses and attractions in the County Borough in order to promote the whole of Merthyr 
Tydfil to its visitors.

•   Private investment

•   Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

•   Heads of the Valley’s Programme funding

Cyfarthfa Heritage Area The Destination Management Partnership has significantly enhanced the Cyfarthfa Heritage Area through 
a number of strategic projects whilst adhering to a definitive Conservation Area Management Plan. During 
the initial implementation of the original DMP, the Local Authority successfully secured HLF funding to 
develop the key attraction, assisting it in becoming Wales’s third most popular free tourist attraction. The 
Cyfarthfa Heritage Area emphasises its educational qualities too, becoming a key resource to both schools 
and visitors alike and depicting the story of Merthyr Tydfil’s industrial using the attractions Grade I* listed 
buildings and Grade II* listed park and gardens. In doing so, the facility has seen an increase in visitors 
over the last three years.

•   Heritage Lottery Fund

•   Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

•   Heads of the Valleys Programme

•   CADW

•   Welsh Government

•   Valleys Regional Park Programme

•   Vibrant and Viable Places Programme

P
age 57



Merthyr Tydfil Destination Management Plan8

Project Description Funding

Cyfarthfa Leat and  
Old Gurnos Tramway

This £1.6m scheme focussed on the restoration of the Leat ancient watercourse structure, preventing its 
collapse and ensuring the ancient watercourse continues to supply water to Cyfarthfa Lake. The attraction 
is recognised as being a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), providing the varied habitat for both 
plants and animal life. The project redeveloped the tramway that runs adjacent to the Leat, utilising the 
original stone sleepers that still hold visible imprints of the original tramway. The project was successfully 
launched in 2013 and received over 30,000 visitors in its first year of opening.

•   Valleys Regional Park Programme

•   CADW

•   Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

•   Heads of the Valleys Programme

Cyfarthfa Park The £3.3m transformation of Cyfarthfa Park commenced back in 2012 and saw Merthyr Tydfil’s key 
visitor destination restored with a mix of capital works, vital renovation of the surrounding landscape 
and complementary programme of coordinated activities for visitors and volunteers. The project saw 
the enhancement of the park’s key heritage features which included improved interpretation, increased 
access to its many paths and upgrading its visitor facilities. The overall project has enabled the park to 
increase its current heritage tourism offer whilst advancing its volunteering schemes across the facility.

•   Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF)

•   Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

•   Welsh Government

•   Heads of the Valleys Programme

•   CADW

P
age 58



www.visitmerthyr.co.uk 9

3.3 KEY PROJECTS 2013-15 - DESTINATION DEVELOPMENT:

Project Description Funding

River Taff Central Link The River Taff Central Link (Gyratory System) was officially launched in 2014 with the aim of the new road 
system to improve access to the town, reduce congestion, boost visitor numbers, and increase business 
prosperity in Merthyr Tydfil town centre through inward investment and employment opportunities. The 
project ensures a constant flow of traffic, priority lanes for buses and improved links to the Railway Station 
and proposed new Bus Station.

•   Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

•   Welsh Government

•   ERDF

•  Heads of the Valley Programme

Parc Taf Bargoed 
Improvements

The Taff Bargoed Hydro Scheme’s core aim was to provide an income to fund the long term management 
and maintenance of the park. The Friends of Taff Bargoed Group had the idea of exploring the hydro-
electrical potential of the site and, following an assessment of the cascade, a grant from Environment 
Wales was secured for a feasibility study. The £500,000 build of this project has been funded through loan 
finance from Welsh Government, administered by the Energy Savings Trust.

•   Environment Wales

•   Welsh Government

P
age 59



Merthyr Tydfil Destination Management Plan10

Project Description Funding

Accommodation 
Improvements 

The implementation of Merthyr Tydfil’s initial Destination Management Plan saw the Local Authority work 
directly with potential tourism sector businesses. One of the areas that saw huge growth over the term of 
the first DMP was the accommodation sector, which saw eight new accommodation businesses establish 
themselves in the region, as a direct consequence of the amount of tourism development taking place 
across the locality. 

•   Tourism Investment Fund

•   Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

•   Heads of the Valleys funding

•   Private investment

•   Valleys Regional Park funding

Merthyr Tydfil Town 
Centre Redevelopment

In 2012, the Local Authority secured £25m to revitalise the town centre with the aim of increasing visitor 
numbers and business prosperity. The scheme helped transform the town with projects like the restoration 
of the Old Town Hall (now called The Redhouse) and the highly successful new community space at 
Penderyn Square, which has created a vibrant event space for the Town Centre and attracts a significant 
number of people to Merthyr Tydfil since opening in 2014. Another major project affiliated with the 
revitalisation of the Town Centre is Llys Janice Rowlands, located in the Café Quarter and subsequently 
opened in May 2013. This Town Centre Regeneration Programme has increased visitors to the town, 
created significant infrastructure development and enabled partnership working with local stakeholders.

•   Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

•   Welsh Government

•   ERDF

•   Heads of the Valley Programme

•   HLF

Treharris Town Centre 
Redevelopment

A new pedestrian-friendly square, which is situated on the old Palace Cinema site in Treharris, has been 
developed as part of the Taff Bargoed Regeneration Programme. It will serve as an open space in the 
centre of the village and retains the key feature of the amphitheatre. The open space can be used for 
events and additional parking.

•   ERDF

•   Welsh Government

•   Heads of the Valleys

•   Arts Council for Wales

•   Merthyr Tydfil CBC

P
age 60



www.visitmerthyr.co.uk 11

4. PRIORITIES FOR MERTHYR TYDFIL 2016-18:

4.1 PLANNED INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENTS 2016-18:

Cyfarthfa Heritage Area:

The Cyfarthfa Heritage Area is the result of three separate 
projects and plans to ensure the area’s protection of 
its historical assets and its subsequent appreciation by 
the general public. A designated ‘masterplan’ has been 
professionally developed to inform the Local Authority 
regarding the future management of Cyfarthfa Castle, 
Park and Ironworks - which in turn will have a significant 
impact on the area’s value to the local community and 
visitors whilst leading on the enhancement of the overall 
attraction, as well as its conservation for generations to 
come. Plans are in place to redevelop a large proportion 
of Cyfarthfa Castle to incorporate a new Museum Learning 
Zone, Collections Store, Research Centre and Enterprise 
Centre on the first floor. With regards to the park itself, 
consideration is being given to revamping all entrances, 
boundaries, footpaths and key buildings, along with 
developing a new forecourt at the front and undertaking 
landscaping projects throughout. Lastly, the Merthyr Tydfil 
Heritage Regeneration Trust is currently looking into the 
feasibility of building a full-size working replica of Richard 
Trevithick’s Penydarren Locomotive and situating it 
outside the Cyfarthfa Furnaces.

P
age 61



Merthyr Tydfil Destination Management Plan12

Rock UK Summit Centre:

The facility will go through an extensive phase of 
redevelopment over the next two years with plans to 
develop a fully catered, 100-bed multi-activity residential 
centre on the grounds. Also, the facility will benefit from a 
new bike skills course, gym, café and children’s play area. 
Rock UK Summit Centre will also use the local area in the 
southern end of Merthyr Tydfil to run additional adventure 
activities.

Parkwood Leisure Dolygaer:

The previously Local Authority-owned Dolygaer Outdoor 
Activity Centre was purchased in 2015 by Parkwood 
Outdoors, which has an excellent track record of 
developing and managing leisure facilitates throughout the 
UK. Parkwood Outdoors will look to work with MTCBC and 
key stakeholders with a view to redeveloping the whole 
infrastructure in a phased approach. Work has already 
taken place to add extra signage throughout the County 
Borough to assist visitors in finding the Activity Centre 
with the organisation also funding a full refurbishment 
of the old Caretaker’s Bungalow, turning it into a 4 Star 
self-catering cottage. Plans are now in place to remodel 
the old office block, turning the facility into six large, self-
catering ensuite rooms. Additionally, Parkwood Outdoors 
will invest heavily in a total redevelopment of its current 
reception area and café and look to introduce a suite of 
new outdoor activities in 2017. P

age 62



www.visitmerthyr.co.uk 13

4.2 THEMES GOING FORWARD:

Marketing, Publicity and Perception Changing:

With technologies constantly changing and the tourism sector evolving, Local Authorities, 
stakeholders and subsequent businesses need to adapt their respective marketing 
techniques to ensure that they broadcast their key messages to an ever-expanding 
audience. The Local Authority has always managed its own marketing campaigns and 
joined-up the key messages from our tourism sector businesses, usually in a traditional 
Visit Merthyr Guide and Website. However, these forms of marketing tools are needing 
to be updated as technologies change, and therefore MTCBC has already started 
developing a new Visit Merthyr Website which will be mobile phone friendly (IOS and 
Android).

The Local Authority will also adapt to current tourism trends surrounding creative 
communication and plans to launch its new Destination Merthyr Tydfil video in early 
2016, focussed primarily around activity tourism, with a further cultural heritage video 
being developed by mid-2016. Additionally, the Local Authority, along with its tourism 
sector businesses, needs to recognise the prominence associated with social media and 
the weight it can add to both the promotion of a region and the sector overall.

Over the next three years, the Destination Management Partnership will undertake a 
research exercise in order to scope out the demographics of all our visitors (day and 
overnight) with a view of gaining a better understanding of who our target market are, 
where they reside, what they have done in the area and their perceptions of their visit – 
all important factors to the sector progressing. 

Another important target group that the DMP will look to focus its attention on will be local 
residents and those potential visitors residing in those Local Authorities situated next to 
Merthyr Tydfil. Local residents can make an important contribution to the sector and the 
Partnership recognises that by working with attractions in the area to encourage local 
people to visit and try their activities, it will have both a financial and societal benefit for 
everyone – all year round. 

P
age 63



Merthyr Tydfil Destination Management Plan14

Activity Tourism:

The importance of activity tourism to the local economy 
has grown immensely over the last three years with the 
construction of BikePark Wales and evolution of Rock UK 
Summit Centre, Parkwood Outdoors Dolygaer and the 
substantial trail infrastructure development. The region is 
fast becoming a hub for activity tourism and is recognised 
as being one of the most desirable regions in Wales in 
terms of adventure tourism. The Destination Management 
Partnership will also focus its attention on the continued 
support of other activity-orientated businesses and 
organisations such as the County Borough’s two golf 
clubs, two angling associations and all other sporting 
affiliations across the region. The DMP will look to develop 
the sector further, working directly with attractions and 
recreational organisations in a collaborative manner with 
a view to progressing activity tourism-based campaigns  
and assisting stakeholders with the pursuit of bringing 
nationally and internationally recognised events to the 
region.

Heritage & Culture:

Merthyr Tydfil, as a town - can boast a history as engaging 
and colourful as most major cities. The County Borough 
is steeped in heritage, which is a key economic driver 
that attracts visitors all year round and is integral to the 
tourism economy. The offer is strong, with attractions 
like Cyfarthfa Castle & Museum, Cyfarthfa Ironworks 
and Ynysfach Engine House, complemented by sites of 
historical significance such as Cefn and Ponsarn Viaducts, 
Cyfarthfa Leat and Tramway and Pontygwaith Bridge. 
Merthyr Tydfil has an array of historic walking and cycling 
paths and bridleways ranging from the opportunity to walk 
along the route of the first ever steam locomotive journey 
along the Trevithick Trail to the possibility of travelling the 
length of the iconic Taff Trail, allowing users to stop off 
at many of Merthyr Tydfil’s historic villages. Realistically, 
the list is endless - and so are the opportunities to learn 
and explore. The Merthyr Tydfil Destination Management 
Plan will help stakeholders set a vision for the region, 
maximising further on the potential of heritage tourism 
and its economic impact. 

Trails Development:

Merthyr Tydfil has an array of trails that run the breadth and 
depth of the County Borough which interlink villages and 
sites of interest. The Destination Management Partnership 
will look to adhere to Welsh Government’s Active Travel 
(Wales) Act 2013, considering improvements to our 
current trail infrastructure and the identification of new 
routes for future use. The Local Authority will continue to 
work with stakeholders to evolve the current maintenance 
plan for the region’s main trails, conduct annual audits to 
identify problems and enhancement opportunities whilst 
focussing on linking each of Merthyr Tydfil’s key attractions. 
The ‘Partnership’ will make considerations relating to 
the proposed dualling of the A465 which should see 
improvements to the National Cycle Network Route 46. 
The trails themselves are becoming an increasing resource 
in terms of staging events and over the course of the next 
three years look to add to its portfolio of the Merthyr Tydfil 
Half Marathon and San Domenico Run. Additionally, the 
Destination Management Partnership will still continue its 
management of the trails, proactively reacting to instances 
of fly tipping and pot holes.

P
age 64



www.visitmerthyr.co.uk 15

5. SWOT ANALYSIS: 

STRENGTHS: WEAKNESSES:

•   Great balance of rural and town centre - countryside and urban

•   Attractive range of serviced and self-catering accommodation providers in the area

•   Unique cultural heritage offer – an historically significant town 

•   Strong activity tourism component 

•   Well-established network of trails for walking, cycling and horse-riding across the 
County Borough

•   Ideally situated at the crossroads of the A470 and A465

•   Well-established local tourism networks and strong links with the business community

•   Local Authority has excellent track record of securing EU and transnational finance

•   Excellent retail offer (town centre and Cyfarthfa Retail Park)

•   New marketing campaign for activity tourism and heritage (Destination Merthyr video, 
new website and guide)

•   MTCBC has extensive relationships with many major partners and stakeholders

•   Great track record of developing major growth products. i.e. Cyfarthfa Park, Caste and 
BikePark Wales

•   The promotion of the Welsh language through dedicated mechanisms in collaboration 
with Canolfan Soar

•   No Tourist Information Centre 

•   Signage relatively weak for some tourism sector businesses

•   Restricted budget allocation for tourism by the Local Authority

•   Night time offer comparatively small

•   Existing problems with litter, vandalism and dereliction

•   Some tourism sector business websites need updating to conform with technological 
advances, with others needing social media sites

•   Wi-Fi coverage across the business community weak

•   Lack of business advice to promote effective digital marketing 

•   No major high quality hotel in the area

•   Few large-scale indoor attractions 

P
age 65



Merthyr Tydfil Destination Management Plan16

OPPORTUNITIES: THREATS:

•   Emerging quality food / local produce offer

•   Building upon current event programme

•   Increasing number of overnight stays in the region linked to activity tourism 

•   Emergence of the new Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Programme

•   Development of key arrival points (new bus station and recent train station works)

•   20% of the County Borough sits within the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

•   Trailing of new satellite tourist information points at key sites

•   Possible new Interreg, Atlantic and VVP2 projects

•   Potential to develop year-round tourism in the region

•   More coordinated marketing through partnership working

•   Inward investment potential with integrated infrastructure ready to be utilised

•   Strategic collaboration with other South East Wales Local Authorities through the 
Destination Management Group

•  Welsh Government recognise that tourism is a sector priority

•   The profile of tourism and destination management is now a corporate priority in the 
Local Authority

•   Key projects commencing such as the South Wales Metro System and Circuit of Wales

•   The implementation of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 which 
include improvements to Merthyr Tydfil’s social, economic, environmental and cultural 
well-being

•   ICT connectively weak in some parts of the region (broadband, 3G,4G)

•   Competition from other regions

•   Potential for localised and national media to portray Merthyr Tydfil in a negative 
manner

•   Tourism sector negatively impacted if Local Authority continues to cut tourism 
provisions

•   No relevant grant streams for business support

•   Competition from Cardiff in terms of stronger, traditional retail offer

•   Welsh Governments change from grant to investment support (loan orientated) 

P
age 66



www.visitmerthyr.co.uk 17

6. ACTION PLAN:

No. Key Action:

1. Promotion of the Destination:

1.1 Work collaboratively with stakeholders to support destination specific marketing campaigns

1.2
Research and use emerging technologies that enhance current marketing mechanisms to promote Merthyr Tydfil to a 
wide audience

1.3 Explore the development of ‘Tourist Information Points’ across the County Borough

2. Activity Tourism Development:

2.1 Broaden the development of activity tourism attractions and outdoor providers to enhance the region’s offer

2.2 Explore new opportunities to develop new and emerging activity products 

2.3
Work collaboratively with tourism sector businesses to develop specific activity tourism packages for visitors and local 
residents

2.4 Exploration of potential of hosting large-scale events in the region

2.5  Ensure the Rights of Way, NCN, tracks and trails are managed effectively

3. Cultural Heritage Tourism Development:

3.1 Continue to support the preservation, maintenance and development of key heritage sites across the County Borough

3.2 Provide a support mechanism for the Merthyr Tydfil Heritage Forum and associated groups

3.3 Identification of all heritage assets across the County Borough via a dedicated mapping exercise

3.4 Develop a heritage-specific video for Merthyr Tydfil promoting the area’s rich history and culture

3.5 Strategic support of the development of the Cyfarthfa Heritage Area

3.6
Support the implementation of the Welsh Language Standards and subsequent promotion of bilingual information at key 
attractions and heritage / arrival points

4. Development of Merthyr Tydfil’s Business Infrastructure:

4.1 Promote the strengths of the region in terms of encouraging inward investment into the area

4.2 Encourage the promotion of entrepreneurship and growth opportunities amongst new and existing local businesses

4.3 Further develop the existing business community with appropriate grant funding and business advice 

4.4 Explore further opportunities for the development of niche businesses in the area

P
age 67



Merthyr Tydfil Destination Management Plan18

No. Key Action:

4.5 Pursue EU funding opportunities to assist with developing Merthyr Tydfil’s business infrastructure

4.6 Encourage the principles of entrepreneurship across all educational facilities 

4.7 Support the reuse of building space to provide opportunities for economic activity

4.8 Promote the roll-out of the new Broadband infrastructure within the business community

5. Improvements to the Public Realm:

5.1 Review the current signage situation through an annual signage audit

5.2 Continue to support the concept of Business Improvement Districts (BIDs) to enhance key business areas

5.3 Contribute to the redevelopment of interpretation at all regional visitor arrival points 

5.4 Actively pursue ‘Purple Flag’ accreditation for the town centre

6. Tackling Perceptions:

6.1 Develop a concise communication protocol with all press and marketing materials to improve coverage of Merthyr Tydfil

6.2
Work with the local residents in terms of supporting community tourism and promotion of the region to potential visitors to 
the area

7. Broaden the Quality of Accommodation Businesses:

7.1
Undertake an annual diagnostic review process with the accommodation sector to assess need and potential 
improvements of businesses

7.2 Strategically support all accommodation providers with improving their Visit Wales grading and respective tourism offer

7.3 Explore potential diversification of identified accommodation businesses

7.4 Investigate the potential of developing a high quality large hotel in the County Borough

8. Events:

8.1 Further exploration of staging major events in Merthyr Tydfil

8.2 Continue to support a coordinated approach to delivering a sustainable events programme with key stakeholders 

9. Market Segmentation:

9.1 Further enhance the principles of market segmentation and how it can be used better understand potential markets

9.2 Explore key data from the Visit Merthyr Website with a view of obtaining data relating to site visits and demographics

P
age 68



www.visitmerthyr.co.uk 19

No. Key Action:

10. Research:

10.1
Make better use of primary mechanisms for data capture by reinstating the diagnostic review process and analysis of 
STEAM figures

11. Training & Volunteering:

11.1 Promote the continued support of all training opportunities for businesses and residents with key stakeholders

11.2 Further support the development and promotion of regional volunteering schemes focussed around capacity building

11.3 Provide recruitment solutions based on the need from potential inward investors

12. Strategic Partnership Working:

12.1 Reinvigorate the Destination Management Partnership to ensure projects, actions and priorities are delivered 

12.2
Work with regional strategic partners to identify delivery links and potential funding streams which add value and enhance 
visitors’ experience 

12.3
Support all thematic and area-specific groups with a view of further developing the destination’s attractiveness of 
promotion opportunities 

13. Food & Drink:

13.1 Promote the use of localised produce at key food retailers across the County Borough 

13.2 Support the development of farmers’ markets and food-related events in the area

13.3 Encourage businesses and stakeholders to adopt Fair Trade products

13.4 Explore the potential of developing the night time economy in the town centre 

 

P
age 69



The Strategic Tourism Team
The Economic Development and Strategic Tourism Department
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
Unit 5, Pentrebach, Merthyr Tydfil. CF48 4TQ

Email: visit@merthyr.gov.uk
www.visitmerthyr.co.uk

P
age 70



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

INFORMATION REPORT 
 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Wales Audit Office Review – “Overview and 
Scrutiny Fit for the Future? Project” 
 

 
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 This report is to remind Scrutiny members of the Wales Audit Office review which 

was first highlighted to members in the” Developing the Scrutiny Work Programme 
for 2017 /2018” reports that went to each scrutiny committee in July. 

 
1.2 Details of the review are contained within the project brief, a copy of which is 

attached. 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 The Committee notes the content of the report. 
 

 
3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Wales Audit Office will be undertaking a review of scrutiny across Wales. The 

purpose and focus of the review is as follows:- 
 

1. “We will explore with councils how ‘fit for the future’ their scrutiny functions 
are. This will include considering how they are responding to current 
challenges, including the Well-being of Future Generations Act (WFG Act), in 
relation to their scrutiny activity, as well as how councils are beginning to 
undertake scrutiny of public service boards. We will examine how well placed 
councils are to respond to future challenges including continued pressure on 
public finances and the possible move towards more regional working 
between local authorities. 

 

Date Written 17th October 2017 
Report Author Howard jones 
Service Area Scrutiny 
Committee Date 23rd / 24th/30th October 2017 

Page 71

Agenda Item 6



2. As part of this review we will also review the progress councils have made in 
addressing the recommendations of our earlier National Improvement Study 
Good Scrutiny? Good Question.1 We will also follow up on any proposals for 
improvement relevant to scrutiny that we have issued in any subsequent local 
reports including those issued to councils as part of our 2016-17 thematic 
reviews of Savings Planning and Governance Arrangements for Determining 
Significant Service Changes. “ 

 
3.2 A copy of the project brief is attached for information. 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Overview and Scrutiny –
Fit For the Future? 
Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council 

 

WLGA returns HR department 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

None 

 

Page 72



 

 

Overview and Scrutiny –Fit For the 
Future? Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council 
Audit year: 2017-18 

Date issued: September 2017 

Document reference:  

 

 

Page 73



 

 

This document has been prepared for the internal use of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council as 
part of work performed/to be performed in accordance with statutory functions. 

No responsibility is taken by the Auditor General, the staff of the Wales Audit Office or, where 
applicable, the appointed auditor in relation to any member, director, officer or other employee in their 

individual capacity, or to any third party. 

In the event of receiving a request for information to which this document may be relevant, attention is 
drawn to the Code of Practice issued under section 45 of the Freedom of Information Act 2000.  
The section 45 Code sets out the practice in the handling of requests that is expected of public 

authorities, including consultation with relevant third parties. In relation to this document, the Auditor 
General for Wales, the Wales Audit Office and, where applicable, the appointed auditor are relevant 

third parties. Any enquiries regarding disclosure or re-use of this document should be sent to the 
Wales Audit Office at info.officer@audit.wales. 

We welcome correspondence and telephone calls in Welsh and English. Corresponding in Welsh will 
not lead to delay. Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth a galwadau ffôn yn Gymraeg a Saesneg. Ni fydd 

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi. 

 

 

 

Page 74

mailto:info.officer@audit.wales


Contents 

Page 3 of 12 - Overview and Scrutiny –Fit For the Future? Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Project brief 

Purpose and focus of the review x 

Intended benefits x 

Method x 

Main review questions x 

Timetable x 

Interview list x 

Document request x 

Wales Audit Office contacts x 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – recommendations from Good Scrutiny? Good Question?  
Scrutiny Improvement Study x 

Appendix 2 – outcomes and characteristics for effective local government  
overview and scrutiny x 

 

Page 75



Project brief 

Page 4 of 12 - Overview and Scrutiny –Fit For the Future? Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Purpose and focus of the review 
1 We will explore with councils how ‘fit for the future’ their scrutiny functions are. This 

will include considering how they are responding to current challenges, including 
the Well-being of Future Generations Act (WFG Act), in relation to their scrutiny 
activity, as well as how councils are beginning to undertake scrutiny of public 
service boards. We will examine how well placed councils are to respond to future 
challenges including continued pressure on public finances and the possible move 
towards more regional working between local authorities.  

2 As part of this review we will also review the progress councils have made in 
addressing the recommendations of our earlier National Improvement Study Good 
Scrutiny? Good Question.1 We will also follow up on any proposals for 
improvement relevant to scrutiny that we have issued in any subsequent local 
reports including those issued to councils as part of our 2016-17 thematic reviews 
of Savings Planning and Governance Arrangements for Determining Significant 
Service Changes. 

Intended benefits 
3 The intended benefits of undertaking this project are: 

 identification of approaches to embedding the sustainable development 
principle into scrutiny processes and practices to inform practice sharing and 
future work of the Auditor General in relation to the WFG Act; 

 providing assurance that scrutiny functions are well placed to respond to 
current and future challenges and expectations; 

 helping to embed effective scrutiny by elected members from the start of this 
new electoral cycle; and 

 providing insight into how well councils have responded to the findings of our 
previous Scrutiny Improvement Study. 

Method 
4 To inform our findings we will base our methodology around the Outcomes and 

Characteristics for Effective Local Government Overview and Scrutiny that were 
developed and agreed by scrutiny stakeholders in Wales following our previous 
Scrutiny Improvement Study.  

5 We will initially undertake document reviews, interview a small number of key 
officers and run focus groups with key councillors to understand their views on 

 
1 Good Scrutiny? Good Question! – Auditor General for Wales improvement study: 
Scrutiny in Local Government (May 2014) available at www.audit.wales 

Page 76

http://www.audit.wales/


 

Page 5 of 12 - Overview and Scrutiny –Fit For the Future? Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council’s (the Council) current scrutiny 
arrangements and in particular how the Council intends to respond to the 
challenges identified above. We will also explore councils’ approaches to PSB 

scrutiny as part of the interviews. 

6 We will select scrutiny committee meetings to observe and review relevant 
documentation provided to members to support their scrutiny role, such as reports 
and presentations.  

7 After we have reported our findings to each council we will consider how we can 
best work with other scrutiny stakeholders to share learning, for example through 
regional seminars.  

Main review questions 

Exhibit 1: main review questions 

Timetable 
8 The table below sets out the proposed timeline for the review although timescales 

may vary depending on circumstances in individual councils. The specific timetable 
for undertaking the work will be discussed with our Council contacts as part of 
project set arrangements. 

Exhibit 2: proposed timetable 

Proposed timetable 

Project set-up meeting 5th September 

Fieldwork including meeting 
observations 

19th October onwards 

Local report issued TBA – by April 2017 

Regional seminars April/May 2018 (exact date to be confirmed). 

Is the Council’s overview and scrutiny function well placed to respond to current and future 
challenges? 
Level 2 
Scrutiny environment: 
Is the Council creating a supportive environment to enable scrutiny to operate effectively? 

Scrutiny practice: 
Is the operation of the scrutiny function well planned, efficient, objective and based on evidence from a 
range of sources? 

Scrutiny impact 
Is overview and scrutiny activity contributing to improvements in performance and decision-making? 

Page 77



 

Page 6 of 12 - Overview and Scrutiny –Fit For the Future? Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Interview and observation list 

Exhibit 3: who we would like to interview as part of the review 

Name  Job Title 
Carys Kennedy – 1st Nov 2pm Monitoring Officer 

Howard Jones – 19th October 10.30am Scrutiny Officer/Manager (or Head of 
Democratic Services if applicable) 

Suzanne Davies – 2nd Nov 10am PSB Co-ordinator or equivalent 

TBA in Oct/Nov Focus group with chairs of scrutiny 
committees(4) 

TBA in Oct/Nov Focus group with Cabinet@2pm prior to 
Cabinet meeting 

TBA in Oct/Nov Focus group with scrutiny committee 
members newly elected as members of the 
Council in 2017 and also elected members 
of the Council prior to the 2017 elections 

Gareth Chapman - TBA Interview with Chief Executive 

Observation of relevant overview and 
scrutiny committee meetings. 

Between two and four meetings 

Document request 

Exhibit 4: Documents we would like to request from the Council 

Document title  
Member induction programme and member attendance records 

Sample of reports or materials provided to members at informal ‘scrutiny’ meetings 

e.g. member seminars/workshops or task and finish groups (where applicable). 

Minutes, reports and agendas of PSB Scrutiny Committee (or equivalent) 

Forward work programmes for overview and scrutiny committee for 2017-18. 

Any Council reports evaluating the effectiveness or impact of the overview and 
scrutiny function (if applicable). 

Any improvement action plans developed from the Wales Audit Office improvement 
study (if applicable). 

  

Page 78



 

Page 7 of 12 - Overview and Scrutiny –Fit For the Future? Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Wales Audit Office contacts 

Exhibit 5: Wales Audit Office contacts 

Name Contact details 
Performance Audit Director Huw Rees/Jane Holownia  

Performance Audit Manager Non Jenkins 

Performance Audit Lead Justine Morgan 
Performance Auditor Katherine Simmons 

Page 79



Appendix 1 

Page 8 of 12 - Overview and Scrutiny –Fit For the Future? Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Recommendations from Good Scrutiny? Good 
Question? Scrutiny Improvement Study 

Exhibit 6: Recommendations from Good Scrutiny? Good Question? Scrutiny 
Improvement Study 

Recommendation Responsible Partners 

R1  Clarify the role of executive 
members and senior officers in 
contributing to scrutiny. 

 Councils, Welsh Government, Welsh 
Local Government Association 

R2  Ensure that scrutiny members, and 
specifically scrutiny chairs, receive 
training and support to fully equip 
them with the skills required to 
undertake effective scrutiny. 

 Councils, Welsh Government, Welsh 
Local Government Association 

R3  Further develop scrutiny forward 
work programing to : 
 provide a clear rational for 

topic selection; 
 be more outcome focussed 
 ensure that the method of 

scrutiny is best suited to the 
topic area and the outcome 
desired; and 

 align scrutiny programmes 
with the council’s 

performance management, 
self-evaluation and 
improvement arrangements. 

 Councils 

R4  Ensure that scrutiny draws 
effectively on the work of audit, 
inspection and regulation and that 
its activities are complementary 
with the work of external review 
bodies. 

 Councils, Staff of the Wales Audit 
Office, CSSIW, Estyn 

R5  Ensure that external review bodies 
take account of scrutiny work 
programmes and the outputs of 
scrutiny activity, where appropriate, 
in planning and delivering their 
work. 

 Staff of the Wales Audit Office, 
CSSIW, Estyn 

Page 80



 

Page 9 of 12 - Overview and Scrutiny –Fit For the Future? Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Recommendation Responsible Partners 

R6  Ensure that the impact of scrutiny is 
properly evaluated and acted upon 
to improve the function’s 

effectiveness; including following up 
on proposed actions and examining 
outcomes. 

 Councils, Welsh Government, Welsh 
Local Government Association 

R7  Undertake regular self-evaluation of 
scrutiny utilising the ‘outcomes and 

characteristics of effective local 
government overview and scrutiny’ 

developed by the Wales Overview 
& Scrutiny Officers’ Network. 

 Council 

R8  Implement scrutiny improvement 
action plans developed from the 
Wales Audit Office improvement 
study. 

 Councils 

R9  Adopt Participation Cymru’s 10 

Principles for Public Engagement in 
improving the way scrutiny engages 
with the public and stakeholders. 

 Councils 

Page 81



Appendix 2 

Page 10 of 12 - Overview and Scrutiny –Fit For the Future? Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Outcomes and characteristics for effective local 
government overview and scrutiny 

Exhibit 7: Outcomes and characteristics for effective local government overview and 
scrutiny 

Outcomes Characteristics 
What does good 
scrutiny seek to 
achieve? 

What would it look like? How could we recognise it? 

1. Democratic 
accountability 
drives 
improvement 
in public 
services.  
‘Better 

Services’ 
 

Environment  
i) Scrutiny has a clearly defined and valued role in the council's improvement arrangements.  
ii) Scrutiny has the dedicated officer support it needs from officers who are able to undertake 

independent research effectively, and provide Scrutiny members with high-quality analysis, 
advice and training.  

 
Practice  
iii) Overview and Scrutiny inquiries are non-political, methodologically sound and incorporate 

a wide range of evidence and perspectives.   
 

Impact  
iv) Overview and scrutiny regularly engages in evidence based challenge of decision makers 

and service providers.  
v) Scrutiny provides viable and well evidenced solutions to recognised problems. 

2. Democratic 
decision 
making is 
accountable, 
inclusive and 
robust.  
‘Better 

decisions’ 

Environment  
i) Scrutiny councillors have the training and development opportunities they need to 

undertake their role effectively.  
ii) The process receives effective support from the Council’s Corporate Management Team 

which ensures that information provided to scrutiny is of high quality and is provided in a 
timely and consistent manner.  

 

Practice  
iii) Scrutiny is Member led and has ‘ownership’ of its work programme taking into account the 

views of the public, partners and regulators whilst balancing between prioritising 
community concerns against issues of strategic risk and importance.  

iv) Stakeholders have the ability to contribute to the development and delivery of scrutiny 
forward work programmes.  

v) Overview and scrutiny meetings and activities are well-planned, chaired effectively and 
make best use of the resources available to it.  

 
Impact  
vi) Non-executive Members provide an evidence based check and balance to Executive 

decision making.  
vii) Decision makers give public account for themselves at scrutiny committees for their 

portfolio responsibilities.  

Page 82



 

Page 11 of 12 - Overview and Scrutiny –Fit For the Future? Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Outcomes Characteristics 
What does good 
scrutiny seek to 
achieve? 

What would it look like? How could we recognise it? 

3. The public is 
engaged in 
democratic 
debate about 
the current 
and future 
delivery of 
public 
services.  

Environment 
i) Scrutiny is recognised by the Executive and Corporate Management team as an important 

council mechanism for community engagement.  
 
Practice  
ii) Scrutiny is characterised by effective communication to raise awareness of, and encourage 

participation in democratic accountability.   
iii) Scrutiny operates non-politically and deals effectively with sensitive political issues, tension 

and conflict.  
iv) Scrutiny builds trust and good relationships with a wide variety of internal and external 

stakeholders.  
 

Impact  
v) Overview and scrutiny enables the ‘voice’ of local people and communities across the area 

to be heard as part of decision and policy-making processes.  

 

Page 83



 

 

Wales Audit Office 
24 Cathedral Road 
Cardiff CF11 9LJ 

Tel: 029 2032 0500 
Fax: 029 2032 0600 

Textphone.: 029 2032 0660 

E-mail: info@audit.wales 
Website: www.audit.wales 

Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru 
24 Heol y Gadeirlan 
Caerdydd CF11 9LJ 

Ffôn: 029 2032 0500 
Ffacs: 029 2032 0600 

Ffôn testun: 029 2032 0660 

E-bost: post@archwilio.cymru 
Gwefan: www.archwilio.cymru 

 

Page 84

mailto:info@audit.wales
http://www.audit.wales/
mailto:post@archwilio.cymru
http://www.archwilio.cymru/


Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 

prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting. 
 
1.2 To remind scrutiny committee members that they need to consider the requirements 

of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 The Committee notes the content of this report 
 
2.2 The Committee considers its work programme and approve, revise or amend it as 

deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions above in planning for the next 
meeting.  

 
 
3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.2 At each meeting the committee will agree the agenda items for their next meeting 

and in preparation may in advance wish to ask itself the following questions. 
 

Date Written 13th October 2017 
Report Author Scrutiny Section 
Service Area Legal & Governance Services 
Committee Division Scrutiny  
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 
Committee Date 24th October 2017 

Page 85

Agenda Item 9



Q) Why has the item been placed on a scrutiny work programme? 
a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s Wellbeing 

Objectives and priorities? 
b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns? 
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest? 
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications? 
e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 
f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources? 
 
Q) What is the specific role of the committee? 

            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 
a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 

department 
 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose 

 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 
major issue  

d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 
investigation / review 

e. to explore possible solutions to an issue 
 

Q) What outcome is the committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 
c. To receive an overview presentation. 
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy 
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives / other plan / other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome?  
What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions. 

 
Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 

Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Health Board etc 

 
Q) Does the committee need to ask for written representations? 

The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 

Page 86



will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting.  

 
Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 

and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 
 Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 

You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 
community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc. 

 
 

The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the Act) 
 
3.3 The Act applied the wellbeing duty on local authorities. This duty means this Council 

has to work towards its wellbeing goals and is required to publish its Statement of 
Wellbeing, which sets out our local wellbeing objectives for the community over the 
next five years.  

 
The Authority’s “wellbeing objectives” seek to secure sustained improvements in the 
economic, social, cultural and environmental wellbeing of the people who live and 
work in Merthyr Tydfil, now and in the future. The focus is on supporting people when 
they need it most and equipping them with the skills they need to lead fulfilled lives. 

 
 In brief, the wellbeing objectives for Merthyr Tydfil cover four main groups: 
 

Best Start to Life (Reported to Learning & LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee) 
• BS1 Children get the best start to life.  
• BS2 Children and young people are equipped with the skills they need to be 

successful learners and confident individuals. 
 

Working Life (Reported to Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee) 
• WL1 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the 

future.  
• WL2 Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish. 

 
 
Environmental Wellbeing (Reported to Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny 
Committee) 

• EW1 Communities protect - enhance and promote our natural environment 
and countryside  

• EW2 Communities protect - develop and promote our heritage and cultural 
assets. 

 
Living Well (reported to Social Services Scrutiny Committee) 

• LW1 Developing safer communities.  
• LW2 People have good physical and mental wellbeing.  
• LW3 People live independently. 

 

Page 87



3.4 The Act places a legal duty on public bodies to adopt the “sustainable development 
principle” when setting wellbeing objectives, and in taking steps to meet those 
objectives.  

 
Any reference to a public body doing something “in accordance with the sustainable 
development principle” means that the body must act in a manner which seeks to 
ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of 
future generations to meet their own needs. 
 
In the Act, the sustainable development principle is exemplified by the five ways of 
working i.e. there are five things that public bodies need to think about to show that 
they have applied the sustainable development principle. Following these ways of 
working will help us work together better, avoid repeating past mistakes and tackle 
some of the long term challenges we are facing. These “5 things” (ways of working) 
are shown below:- 

 
1. Long term - The importance of balancing short-term needs with the need to 

safeguard the ability to also meet long-term needs (taking account of both 
short term and long term needs when making decisions.)  

 
2. Prevention - How acting to prevent problems occurring or getting worse may 

help public bodies meet their objectives (stop problems happening or getting 
worse) 

 
3. Integration - Considering how the public body’s well-being objectives may 

impact upon each of the well-being goals, on their other objectives, or on the 
objectives of other public bodies (making sure that the objectives set by the 
council contribute to the wellbeing goals and there is an understanding of how 
they impact on other organisations work to meet the goals). There needs to be 
connections within the council, between departments, between cabinet 
members Who else within this organisation do we need to talk to ; to avoid 
wasted effort, duplication. What other pieces of legislation may affect, inform, 
impinge upon what we are seeking to address? 

 
4. Collaboration - Acting in collaboration with any other person (or different 

parts of the body itself) that could help the body to meet its well-being 
objectives (working  with people inside and outside the council to meet your 
objectives when working towards the goals). 

 
5. Involvement - The importance of involving people with an interest in 

achieving the wellbeing goals, and ensuring that those people reflect the 
diversity of the area which the body serves (make sure that everyone who has 
an interest or expertise in or is affected by achieving the goals are involved or 
represented). 

 
3.5  Much of Scrutiny committee activity is aligned to the delivery of the wellbeing 

objectives and each scrutiny committee will be receiving regular performance reports 
on these areas. See appendix I which provides further details on this Authority’s 
wellbeing objectives. 

 

Page 88



3.6 Scrutinising under the Act. The Act says that we have to dramatically change the 
way we do things. Not changing what we do but changing the way that we do it. This 
is difficult as many public sector organisations are entrenched in their approaches, in 
their activities and in their attitudes. In all scrutiny work members will need to 
consider the Act! 

 
1. Applying the principles of the Act -  Scrutiny committees will have a 

responsibility to ensure that the principles of the Act are applied to policy and 
decision making in Merthyr 

 
2. Contributing to the setting of the Wellbeing Objectives and the Well Being 

statement. 
 
3. Monitoring progress against the Objectives and seeing if they are being 

met.  
 
4. Scrutiny of the PSB  - strategic and focussed on the work of the PSB as a 

whole (not its constituent members) either an existing scrutiny committee or a 
new one 

 
5. By ensuring that the ways of working are followed in Merthyr Tydfil when 

undertaking  
 
− Pre-decision scrutiny (involvement of community in the decision making 

process?);  
− Policy development (how will this policy impact in people in 2030,40,50 

years?);  
− Performance monitoring (are there problems that can be prevented? 

Could performance be improved if we work with someone else?); and 
− Investigative scrutiny (work with people who have an interest in the 

subject). 
 

3.7 A copy of the Committees work programme is also attached. 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Statement of Wellbeing 
 

28th June 2017 MTCBC Internet 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 

Page 89

http://mtcbcelecreg:9070/documents/s36089/Committee%20Report.pdf


BS Best Start to Life

4. BS 1: Children get the best start to life3

Children, have a positive early experience to ensure they are ready to learn, ready for 
school and have good life chances.

4.1. What happens to children in their earliest years is key to outcomes in adult life.  This is 
now supported by a wide range of research evidence from education, health, justice and 
economic experts.  This wellbeing objective is about giving our children the best start in 
life, to set them off on a path that leads to positive outcomes later in life.

4.2. Improving early years support is also crucial in tackling the root causes of adverse 
childhood experiences, which we know have a detrimental impact on future health and 
wellbeing.  We define early years as pre-birth to 7 years old.  This broad definition of early 
years recognises the importance of pregnancy in influencing outcomes and that the 
transition into primary school is a critical period in children’s lives.

4.3. Parents and carers have a crucial role in creating a home environment that nurtures early 
development and addresses barriers to learning that particularly affect less advantaged 
children and young people.  Parents in Merthyr Tydfil recognise they have a shared 
responsibility with schools to help their children develop skills, but a lack of confidence in 
their abilities can prevent some from doing so.

4.4. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to meeting the 
wellbeing needs of young children.  Such needs should be interpreted broadly and 
encompass play, learning, social relationships and emotional, physical and mental 
wellbeing.  While this approach is important for all children, it will particularly benefit 
children who face disadvantage or have a high risk of poor outcomes later in life.  The key 
components to support positive development in the early years include:

 Children having a nurturing and stimulating home environment
 Children having access to high quality pre-school and school education
 Helping mothers to have good maternal health
 Helping parents and carers with literacy and numeracy to enhance their ability to 

support their children’s learning

4.5. The risks of poorer outcomes for children and families are strongly correlated to 
underlying factors, mainly poverty and lack of parental skills and knowledge as well as 
education.  Wider stresses on parents and families such as substance misuse, debt, poor 
housing and lack of employment can also affect the quality of early years' experience and 
therefore impact on development.

3 This wellbeing objective recognises the right of all young children to high quality relationships, environments and 
services and will contribute strongly to promoting and upholding children’s rights as defined by the UN 
Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC).

Page 90

jonesh1
Typewritten Text

jonesh1_1
Typewritten Text
                    APPENDIX I

jonesh1_2
Typewritten Text



BS Best Start to Life

4.6. The best start to life has to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives which address 
these underlying factors, particularly:

 Children and young people are equipped with the skills they need be successful 
learners and confident individuals

 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the future
 People have good physical and mental health

Page 91

jonesh1_3
Typewritten Text



BS Best Start to Life

5. BS 2: Children and young people are equipped with the skills they 
need to be successful learners and confident individuals

Children and young people, develop the knowledge, skills and attributes they will need to 
flourish in life, learning and work.

5.1. This objective is the next step on from the early years and continues the principle of 
valuing the wider benefits that learning can bring to the individual, to society and 
communities and to the economy.  It is part of a framework to show how all the constituent 
parts of our education and learning systems can contribute to giving Merthyr Tydfil a skills 
base that will improve economic, cultural, social and environmental wellbeing.

5.2. A young person’s education, from the early years through their compulsory education, lays 
the foundations of skills for life and work.  What they learn and the skills they acquire will 
help them improve their own lives.  Education has become one of the clearest indicators 
of life outcomes, such as employment, income and social status, and is a predictor of 
attitudes and wellbeing.

5.3. Wellbeing is strongly linked to attainment.  Research evidence shows that there is value 
for schools to promote health and wellbeing among pupils.  This can range from effective 
social and emotional competencies, the culture ethos and environment of a school and 
opportunities for pupils to be physically active.  Pupils with better health and wellbeing are 
more likely to be ready to learn and achieve better academically.

5.4. This wellbeing objective has at its core the promotion of equality of opportunity.  Equipping 
children and young people with the skills they need includes the following key 
components:

 Schools equipping pupils with high levels of literacy, numeracy and ICT skills
 Schools equipping pupils with social and emotional skills
 Schools supporting physical activity of pupils
 Youth services involving young people and enhancing their knowledge and skills

5.5. This objective has to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives which address the 
wider factors that influence family life:

 Children get the best start to life
 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the future
 People have good physical and mental health

Page 92



WL Working Life

6. WL 1: Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce 
of the future

Highly skilled and qualified people are supported by a local economy that makes full and 
productive use of these skills; where our employers, demand, value and make best use of 
their workforce's skills.

6.1. "Too often, people's experiences of trying to get out of poverty tell a story of barriers and 
traps, rather than routes out"4.  This echoes the challenges experienced by unemployed 
people in Cwm Taf, who spoke of insufficient employment opportunities and numerous 
barriers to employment, particularly the lack of useful support or guidance.

6.2. A key challenge in Merthyr Tydfil is to help people develop their resources (skills, 
knowledge etc.) and tackle the barriers they experience so they can become the 
workforce of the future.  The focus of this wellbeing objective will be on the work we do 
within our communities to improve their skill level of the workforce.

6.3. Research shows that people who report no educational qualifications are more likely to be 
in relatively low income and people who are not in employment with no qualification are 
more likely to be economically inactive.  This is important because a comparatively high 
proportion of people in Merthyr Tydfil do not have any qualifications; we need to improve 
employability skills for those without jobs.  The key components to support the 
development of the future workforce include:

 People having employment opportunities
 People having the basic skills to access learning and training programmes
 People having the skills and qualifications that are suitable for employers' changing 

needs

6.4. The risk of poorer outcomes for people with low or no skills are strongly linked with the 
likelihood they are in lower paid work; experiencing in-work poverty and having lower 
resilience when dealing with issues or problems.  Evidence also shows poorer mental and 
physical health outcomes are often experienced by those with low or no skills.

6.5. Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil has to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives 
which address these underlying factors, particularly:

 Children get the best start to life

4 JRF (2016) Monitoring Poverty and Social Exclusion 2016, Joseph Rowntree Foundation

Page 93



WL Working Life

7. WL 2: Developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses 
to flourish

Development that integrates regeneration with sustainable urban design improves the 
built environment and strengthens the natural environment.

7.1. The built and natural environment can have a strong effect on people's behaviour and 
opportunities and a significant impact on their wellbeing, particularly by where they live 
and work.  The focus of this wellbeing objective is the work we do in our communities to 
develop the environment and infrastructure that allows the growth of communities and a 
resilient local economy.

7.2. There is evidence to suggest that a well-managed urban environment and high quality 
local services are important to create conditions that are attractive to business investors, 
visitors and local residents alike.  Development that is sustainable can help build 
resilience and capacity in adapting to climate change, ensuring town centres and 
communities are attractive, viable and better protected.

7.3. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to environmental and 
infrastructure development needs in Merthyr Tydfil.  Such needs should be interpreted 
broadly to include renewable and low carbon energy, sustainable transport, diverse 
housing, education, retail, green infrastructure including biodiverse open spaces.  Access 
to high quality local services, amenities and safer communities can attract inward 
investment, increase visitor spend and help grow the local economy.  The key 
components to support the development of the environment and infrastructure include:

 People having access to flexible, integrated and sustainable transport options
 Parents and carers having flexible childcare options
 Suitable previously developed land that delivers a diverse supply of housing
 Promoting and supporting the use of renewable and low carbon energy
 Strengthening and diversifying the rural economy

7.4. Flooding and extreme weather events which damage assets and disrupt business 
operations pose the greatest risk to Welsh businesses now and in the future.  Evidence 
shows that high quality, sustainable and inclusive design can mitigate the predicted 
effects of climate change.

7.5. Developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses to flourish has to work 
alongside our other wellbeing objectives, particularly:

 Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and countryside
 Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets

Page 94



EW Environmental Wellbeing

8. EW 1: Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural 
environment and countryside5

People, proud of the area’s outstanding landscape, regularly spend time outdoors in good 
quality, accessible greenspace.  Communities help improve their local areas, learning new 
skills, building strong social bonds and helping wildlife flourish.

8.1. The focus of this wellbeing objective is the work we do with our communities to protect, 
enhance and promote the natural environment and countryside.  This is because research 
shows that a healthy natural environment and countryside provides multiple benefits for 
people and wildlife from improved air, water and land quality, habitat protection and 
enhanced biodiversity to beneficial implications for physical and mental health.

8.2. How we act toward the natural environment and countryside will be a critical factor of a 
sustainable future in Merthyr Tydfil because the benefits of improving our natural 
environment will be felt across all of our wellbeing objectives.  We define the natural 
environment and countryside as all greenspace within the local authority boundary.  This 
broad definition of the natural environment and countryside recognises its importance of 
nature in both rural and urban environments.

8.3. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to meeting the 
environmental wellbeing needs in Merthyr Tydfil.  Those needs should be interpreted 
broadly to include quality greenspace and connectivity, habitat protection and biodiversity, 
resilient ecosystems, landscape character and pollution prevention.  While this approach 
is important for the environment as a whole, it will particularly benefit areas where there 
are key environmental issues or risks.  The key components for communities to protect, 
enhance and promote our natural environment and countryside include:

 Integration of landscape protection, management and planning
 Minimise environmental damage through prevention of pollution
 Maximise efficient use of materials and resources by means of the waste hierarchy
 Developing good quality and connected green infrastructure and open spaces

8.4. A degraded environment means our residents, communities and businesses will have a 
lower resilience to environmental risks.  As the environment is an underlying factor and 
influencer to many other wellbeing objectives, the risks presented by degraded 
environment also include a range of economic, social, health, community safety and 
cultural perspectives.

5 The Environment (Wales) Act 2016 requires the Council to seek to maintain and enhance biodiversity and 
promote the resilience of ecosystems taking into account diversity between and within ecosystems; the 
connections between and within ecosystems; the scale of ecosystems; the condition of ecosystems (including 
their structure and functioning) and the adaptability of ecosystems.

Page 95



EW Environmental Wellbeing

8.5. Communities protect, enhance and promote the natural environment and countryside has 
to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives to address these underlying factors, 
particularly:

 Developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses to flourish
 Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets
 People have good physical and mental health

Page 96



EW Environmental Wellbeing

9. EW 2: Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and 
cultural assets

Celebrating success, valuing our heritage, culture and language will strengthen our 
identity for future generations.

9.1. The focus of this wellbeing objective is to use existing community assets to deliver wealth 
and health benefits for the people of Merthyr Tydfil.  There is a strong argument to 
suggest valuing our heritage, culture and language can bring improvements to the 
wellbeing of individuals and communities.  

9.2. The distinctiveness of Merthyr Tydfil has been shaped by our industrial past and the 
different communities who make Merthyr Tydfil their home.  How we work with these 
communities will be a critical factor in delivering on the vast potential that Merthyr Tydfil’s 
heritage and cultural assets offer us.

9.3. When local people talk about culture, it is often described as an opportunity for 
celebration.  Where this culture is celebrated varies from historic buildings brought back 
into use such as the Redhouse, Soar and Dowlais Engine House to modern venues such 
as the many rugby clubs, community centres and the refurbished Merthyr Tydfil football 
club.  The regeneration of the town centre has provided an additional asset for hosting 
cultural activities that brings people together including Merthyr Rising, Merthyr by the sea, 
Awesome Chilli Festival.

9.4. Cyfarthfa Park was regularly referred to as something good in the community during our 
engagement activities.  How people use the park varies from walking, foraging, fishing and 
landscape painting to attending events such as open air theatre, concerts and firework 
displays.  Whatever the use, the impact on people’s sense of wellbeing was commonly 
endorsed. 

9.5. Community groups that bring people together were also acknowledged as something 
good by those taking part in our engagement activities.  There was a sense that the 
tradition of community groups was enjoying resurgence as the focus on wellbeing 
develops.  Making social connections with other people is directly correlated with 
improvements in physical and mental wellbeing and can help combat the growth in social 
isolation and loneliness experienced by many different people living in the community.

9.6. Using our landscape and history to encourage people to be more physically active is a 
great way to improve wellbeing.  Cyfarthfa provides the backdrop for the annual Wales 
Valleys Walking Festival, which showcases Merthyr Tydfil’s history and natural beauty 
combined with walking.

9.7. In addition to health and wellbeing benefits our heritage and culture can help bolster the 
prosperity of the county borough by attracting visitors and tourists which supports inward 
investment, provides employment and offers opportunities to develop new skills.  In 

Page 97



EW Environmental Wellbeing

addition research shows that being able to speak, read and write Welsh can be an 
advantage for people seeking a job in Wales.

9.8. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to meeting the cultural 
wellbeing needs in Merthyr Tydfil.  Those needs should be interpreted broadly and 
encompass tourism, destination management, conservation and preservation of assets 
and language, local events and community participation.  The key components for 
communities to protect, develop and promote our heritage and culture include:

 Supporting existing community facilities and community led developments
 Supporting suitable tourism, leisure and recreation developments
 Promoting cultural and social activities within our communities
 Promoting the use of the Welsh language

9.9. Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets has to work 
alongside our other wellbeing objectives, particularly:

 Children get the best start to life
 Developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses to flourish
 Developing safer communities

Page 98



LW Living Well

10. LW 1: Developing safer communities

People, living in connected communities, feel safe where they live, work or spend their 
leisure time.

10.1. Feeling safe influences how people value their community, and is important to people’s 
quality of life, often making the difference between people wanting to live and stay in their 
neighbourhood or not.  There is evidence to suggest that building confidence and 
resilience in individuals and communities is an important step towards improving 
wellbeing.  Where healthier and happier people are more likely to positively contribute to 
their communities and society.

10.2. Community safety covers many aspects of life; however, there is no commonly agreed 
definition of community safety or clarity on the range of services and activities that 
contribute to its delivery.  We define safer communities from a social perspective as 
communities that are free from crime, victims of crime or those living in fear of crime.  This 
definition allows us to focus on the social aspects of safety that adversely affect the quality 
of life and wellbeing of people.

10.3. The focus of this wellbeing objective is the work we do to develop safer communities, 
including keeping our children and adults safe and free from harm, creating a place where 
people value their neighbours and community.  The key components for developing safer 
communities include:

 Safeguarding vulnerable children and adults who are at risk of harm
 Tackling the harm caused by the misuse of drugs and alcohol
 Tackling violence against women and girls
 Offender management (young people through to adults)
 Anti-Social Behaviour
 Community cohesion

10.4. Developing safer communities will need to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives, 
particularly:

 Children get the best start to life
 Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets
 People have good physical and mental wellbeing
 People live independently

10.5. In the wider environmental context of safe communities, our wellbeing objectives provide a 
focus on the elements needed for people and communities to develop and maintain a 
clean and biodiverse environment, well lit, free from graffiti, litter and fly-tipping:

 Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish
 Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and countryside

Page 99



LW Living Well

11. LW 2: People have good physical and mental health

People, adopting healthy behaviours earlier in their life, are heathier, feel good and 
function well.

11.1. There are many predictors of wellbeing and this objective focuses on two of them, 
physical health and mental health.  The link between physical health and mental health is 
incontrovertible.  Either one will have effects on the other.  Poor physical health can lead 
to poor mental health and the other way round.  Just as good physical health can improve 
our state of mind, a strong and healthy mind can greatly improve our ability to cope with 
physical ailments.

11.2. Research shows that levels of subjective wellbeing vary across the life course, dipping in 
the mid teenage years, at midlife, and again among the oldest of the old.  The perception 
of general health remains one of the strongest predictors of subjective wellbeing in adults 
and people who are physically active are more likely to have improved general and mental 
health.  

11.3. There is a growing body of evidence that indicates nature provides added value to the 
known benefits of physical activity.  Locally people have told us they have a strong 
association between the outdoors and wellbeing.  However, people also shared their 
concerns on the quality, accessibility and awareness of greenspace, in both urban areas 
and the wider countryside.

11.4. The focus of this wellbeing objective is to motivate and support people and communities 
to develop positive physical and mental health behaviours.  Adopting these behaviours 
early in life will help us to ensure long term and sustainable benefits for the physical and 
mental wellbeing needs of the people in Merthyr Tydfil. 

11.5. To ensure a holistic approach to meeting this objective, physical and mental health needs 
should be interpreted broadly and encompass the family and neighbourhood, school and 
teenage years, having a good job, home and positive social relationships.  The key 
components for people have good physical and mental wellbeing include:

 Promoting healthy behaviours from a young age
 Tackling adverse childhood experiences
 Increasing levels of physical activity

11.6. People have good physical and mental health has to work alongside all other wellbeing 
objectives.

Page 100



LW Living Well

12. LW 3: People live independently6

People, empowered to live independently within their communities, have the appropriate 
support, advice and assistance to meet their personal needs, live safely and access 
opportunities available to them.

12.1. The focus of this objective is to help people with particular support needs to live 
independent and well lives in their communities for longer.  The type of support required to 
promote greater independence and wellbeing will differ for diverse groups in the 
community.  

12.2. For disabled people (of all ages) this objective is about removing the barriers that prevent 
the full participation in all aspects of society and promoting the rights and full inclusion of 
disabled people.  Research evidence from the Office of Disability Issues suggests that 
independent living provides significantly more benefits at an individual level than 
conventional forms of service provision.  At service delivery level, benefits include the 
reduced costs in the delivery of independent support mechanisms.

12.3. For older people this objective is about addressing the care and support needs required to 
remain in their own homes, and developing local capacity within communities so people 
can connect with others and become more involved in community and public life.  There is 
evidence that older people living locally wish to remain living in their homes as long as 
possible.  Alongside tangible benefits in promoting wellbeing linked to choice and control 
and other aspects of maximising independent living for older people, there is also a 
lessening reliance on institutional forms of service provision leading to reduced costs.

12.4. Our engagement with people locally which has identified key factors to support people to 
live independently include:

 Clearly and accessibly communicate sources of advice, assistance and support
 Gather the views of service users to inform planning and service delivery
 Services that provide people with the ability to live in their own home
 Better access to quality services and facilities to support a fairer society for people with 

protected characteristics

12.5. Ensuring that people can live independent lives for longer requires wider societal changes 
to create the necessary conditions to ensure the success of this objective.  To create 
these changes, people to live independently has to work alongside our other wellbeing 
objectives, particularly:

 Children get the best start to life
 Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish
 Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets

6 This wellbeing objective contributes to the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (UNCRPD), 
which includes Article 19: the right to independent living.

Page 101



LW Living Well

 Developing safer communities

12.6. In the wider context of people living independent lives our other wellbeing objectives focus 
on the elements needed for people and communities to become more self-sufficient 
particularly:

 Children and young people are equipped with the skills they need to be successful 
learners and confident individuals

 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the future

Page 102



Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and 
the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

 
Committee Regeneration, Planning and Countryside 

 
Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet 

Member 
Scrutiny Focus  

18th July 2017 
                                                                 
Preparation of Work Programme 
 

12th Sept. 2017 

Wellbeing 
Objective 

Working Life 
(WL1) 

 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / 
Alyn Owen and 

appropriate Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on a wellbeing 
objective.  The scrutiny report will outline the context, current position and provide the 
most up to date performance and project information to enable the Scrutiny 
Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps taken to meet our wellbeing 
objectives. 
 

Economic Growth 
Strategy and 
Partnership 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / 
Alyn Owen and 

appropriate Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  The Scrutiny Committee to receive a report on the journey to 
date in relation to the Economic Growth Strategy and Partnership.  Key priorities will be 
highlighted from within the Action Plan as well as the forward plan for delivery.  
 

24th October 2017 

Wellbeing 
Objective 

Working Life 
(WL2) 

 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / 
Alyn Owen and 

appropriate Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on a wellbeing 
objective.  The scrutiny report will outline the context, current position and provide the 
most up to date performance and project information to enable the Scrutiny 
Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps taken to meet our wellbeing 
objectives. 
 

Destination 
Development  

Cllr Geraint Thomas / 
Alyn Owen and 

appropriate Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on the Destination 
Management Plan and the key developments being delivered through the  Plan.  

Homelessness in 
the County 

Borough 

Steve Peters / Julian 
Pike /  Cllr Geraint 

Thomas 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The scrutiny committee requires an update on current issues 
and an overview of current projects and programmes being delivered by the Cwm Taf 
Community Safety Partnership in respect of Homelessness; together with any other 
information that the department feels the committee should be aware of. The 
committee can then decide how they wish to take the matter forward following the 
report. 
 

P
age 103



Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and 
the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

5th December 2017 

Wellbeing 
Objective 

Working Life 
(WL1) 

 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / 
Alyn Owen and 

appropriate Officers 
 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on a wellbeing 
objective.  The scrutiny report will outline the context, current position and provide the 
most up to date performance and project information to enable the Scrutiny 
Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps taken to meet our wellbeing 
objectives. 
 

Continued 
Development of 
the Town Centre 

Steve Peters / 
Portfolio Member / 

Alyn Owen 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  –i.e. public protection and community safety. Need to look at 
different uses for town centre e.g. leisure usage and night time economy e.g. places to 
eat. Need to address homelessness and law and order issues.  There needs to be co-
ordinated work  e.g. how does the night time economy interact with licencing and 
trading standards regulations? 
 

16th January 2018 

Wellbeing 
Objective 

Working Life 
(WL2) 

 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / 
Alyn Owen and 

appropriate Officers 
 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on a wellbeing 
objective.  The scrutiny report will outline the context, current position and provide the 
most up to date performance and project information to enable the Scrutiny 
Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps taken to meet our wellbeing 
objectives. 
 

Department 
budgets. 

(Home to School 
Transport) 

Steve Peters / 
Portfolio Member 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Post 16 transport is discretionary. The Transport section is 
responsible for procurement of services ensuring value for money. Education is 
responsible for the policy. The Transport section has identified support to learners that 
takes them outside the County Borough and a review of the policy may identify savings 
and support the College. To receive a briefing report. 
 

Enterprise and 
Business Support  

 
 
 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / 
Alyn Owen and 

appropriate Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on the 
developments associated with Enterprise and Business Support including the Orbit 
Business Centre, the support available for Town Centre Businesses and the Social 
Enterprise Strategy.  
 
 

20th February 2018 

Wellbeing 
Objective 

Working Life 
(WL1) 

 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / 
Alyn Owen and 

appropriate Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on a wellbeing 
objective.  The scrutiny report will outline the context, current position and provide the 
most up to date performance and project information to enable the Scrutiny 
Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps taken to meet our wellbeing 
objectives. 
 

P
age 104



Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and 
the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

 
 

As Crime and 
Disorder 

Committee. 
Cwm Taf 

Community 
Safety 

Partnership  - 
Community 

Safety Update 
 

Steve Peters / Police 
(Chief Super Sally 
Burke / colleagues 

from RCTCBC / SWPCC 
Office 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
 

1. An update on current issues and an overview of current projects and 
programmes being delivered by the Cwm Taf Community Safety Partnership.  
 

2. In addition changes in higher level policing structure impacts on Community 
Safety Partnership. How does this affect policing in Merthyr Tydfil? How does 
this tie in with homelessness and anti-social behaviour. Scrutiny may wish to be 
kept abreast on progress and challenge and influence the processes.  

 
Economic Growth 

Strategy and 
Partnership 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / 
Alyn Owen and 

appropriate Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  The Scrutiny Committee to receive a report on the inward 
investment opportunities associated with the Economic Growth Strategy and 
Partnership including the developments and recruitment solutions at both General 
Dynamics and Trago Mills.  
 

3rd April 2018 

Wellbeing 
Objective 

Working Life 
(WL2) 

 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / 
Alyn Owen and 

appropriate Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on a wellbeing 
objective.  The scrutiny report will outline the context, current position and provide the 
most up to date performance and project information to enable the Scrutiny 
Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps taken to meet our wellbeing 
objectives. 
 

Destination 
Development  

 
 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / 
Alyn Owen and 

appropriate Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on the Cyfarthfa 
Heritage Area linked to the Destination Management Plan delivery and the relationship 
with the Leisure Trust in ensuring the product is effectively managed as an ongoing 
result of the significant investment in the Heritage Area.  

Additional items to 
consider for Work 
programme 

Environmental 
Health 

Steve Peters / Sue 
Gow /  Cllr Geraint 

Thomas 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-   – A report providing detail - how does the work of the 
department contribute to Public Health and Wellbeing? 
 
 

 
 
 

  

P
age 105



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Homelessness in the County Borough - Update Report
	4 Working Life - Developing the Environment & Infrastructure for Business to Flourish
	5 Destination Management Plan Update
	Appendix 1

	6 Wales Audit Office Review – “Overview and Scrutiny Fit for the Future? Project”
	To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen
	1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT
	2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)
	3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND


	9 Work Programme
	Work Programme Report 2017 18
	To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen
	Scrutiny Committee Work Programme
	1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT
	2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)
	3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND


	APPENDIX I Statement of Wellbeing July 2017
	4 Regeneration




